Penn State Environmental Law Review

Volume 19 | Number 1

Article 3

1-1-2011

Searching for a Right to Payment: Defining the Scope of Bankruptcy Code Sec. 101(5)(B) under RCRA and Other Statutes Not Providing Express Rights to Payment

James Newton

Follow this and additional works at: https://elibrary.law.psu.edu/pselr

Recommended Citation

James Newton, Searching for a Right to Payment: Defining the Scope of Bankruptcy Code Sec. 101(5)(B) under RCRA and Other Statutes Not Providing Express Rights to Payment, 19 Penn St. Envtl. L. Rev. 55 (2011).

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Law Reviews and Journals at Penn State Law eLibrary. It has been accepted for inclusion in Penn State Environmental Law Review by an authorized editor of Penn State Law eLibrary. For more information, please contact ram6023@psu.edu.

Searching for a "Right to Payment": Defining the Scope of Bankruptcy Code § 101(5)(B) Under RCRA and Other Statutes Not Providing Express "Rights to Payment"

James Newton*

Table of Contents

I.	INTRODUCTION56
II.	BACKGROUND59
	A. Brief Overview of Environmental Laws
	<i>B.</i> Section 101(5)(B)—Statute and History
III.	THE LANGUAGE OF § 101(5)(B)
	A. The "Right to an Equitable Remedy"66
	B. The "Right to Payment"67
	C. The "Breach of Performance"69
	1. United States v. Apex Oil—the "Apex Approach"71
	2. United States v. Whizco—The "Whizco Approach" 73
	3. The Proposed Approach76
	a. The "Breach of Performance" in Contracts Cases 77
	b. The "Breach of Performance" in Statutory Cases 79
	4. The <i>Torwico</i> Case
IV.	APPLICATION OF THE APPROCHES IN ENVIRONMENTAL
	CASES
	A. CERCLA Analysis Remains Unchanged Under All
	<i>Approaches</i> 82

^{*} James Newton graduated from the LL.M. in Bankruptcy program at St. John's University in 2010 and is currently employed as a term law clerk at the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Arizona. Throughout the LL.M. program and Temple University's JD/MBA program, James researched and wrote on bankruptcy issues and interned for several bankruptcy judges in the District of Delaware and the Southern District of New York.

	B.	The RCRA Analysis Differs Under the Various	
		Approaches	83
		1. RCRA Analysis Under the Apex Approach	
		2. RCRA Analysis Under the Whizco Approach	
		3. RCRA Analysis Under the Proposed Approach	
V	OT	HER EVIDENCE WEIGHING ON THE INTERPRETATION OF	
	§ 1	01(5)(B)	87
	A.	Interpreting § 101(5)(B) in Light of Ohio v. Kovacs	
		1. Kovacs and the Apex Approach	88
		2. Kovacs and the Proposed Approach	89
		3. Kovacs and the Whizco Approach	90
	B.	Statutory Interpretation of §101(5)(B)	90
	<i>C</i> .	The Legislative History of § 101(5)(B)	91
	D.	Bankruptcy Policy	93
		1. Relevant Bankruptcy Policies	94
		2. Promote Reorganization when Possible	95
		3. Finality and "Fresh Start"	96
		4. Equal Treatment Among Similarly Situated Creditor	s97
	Е.	Environmental Policy	100
	F	Other Practical Considerations	101
VI.	AP	PLYING THE PROPOSED APPROACH IN OTHER CONTEXTS.	102
	A.	Covenants Not to Compete	102
	В.	Specific Performance	105
	<i>C</i> .	Constructive Trusts	106
VII	Co	NCLUSION	107

I. INTRODUCTION

Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code¹ allows a debtor to obtain a discharge of various obligations in an attempt to reorganize and reemerge as a viable business.² Section 101(5)³ defines the types of "claims" subject to the bankruptcy court's discharge power.⁴ In addition to "rights to payment" under § 101(5)(A), § 101(5)(B) includes within the scope of dischargeable "claims" those equitable obligations (obligations arising

^{1.} The Bankruptcy Code, or Code, refers to title 11 of the United States Code. 11 U.S.C. §§ 101-1532 (2006).

^{2.} See id. § 1141(d).

^{3.} All further references to statutory sections without more are references to the Bankruptcy Code.

^{4. 11} U.S.C. § 101(5)(B).

from causes of action⁵ giving rise to an equitable remedy, such as an injunction) that could be satisfied by an alternative "right to payment."

Several courts, including the Seventh Circuit in United States v. Apex Oil, Co., have taken a restrictive view of the types of equitable remedies arising under environmental laws (specifically, environmental cleanup injunctions) that may be discharged. The Apex court determined that an injunction issued pursuant to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA") did not constitute a dischargeable "claim" because RCRA does not provide an alternative "right to payment."8 Instead, the RCRA injunction rode through the bankruptcy and Apex's duty to cleanup in accordance with the injunction remained effective post-bankruptcy. 9 As a result, any plan of reorganization by Apex must contemplate the financial effects of the cleanup obligation and will likely result in a lower payout to creditors if the reorganization effort is to be successful. The Apex court rejected the broad holding of the Sixth Circuit in *United States v. Whizco*, 10 which concluded that an equitable remedy constitutes a "claim" under § 101(5)(B) to the extent the equitable remedy requires the debtor to spend money.¹¹

The narrow approach advocated by the Seventh Circuit fails to recognize that other statutory frameworks, including the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act ("CERLCA"), 12 overlap with RCRA. In many circumstances, CERCLA provides an alternative cause of action giving rise to a "right to payment." 13 The CERCLA cause of action can often be used to remedy the same pollution as an injunction imposed under RCRA. 14 It is generally agreed that equitable remedies available under CERCLA constitute dischargeable "claims" when the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has the right to clean up itself and seek

^{5.} See id. The term "cause of action," although not generally used in the federal parlance, will be used throughout to avoid confusion between "claims" as defined in § 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code and "claims" arising under other federal statutes, as that term is used under the relevant non-bankruptcy statute.

^{6.} United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009).

^{7. 42} U.S.C. §§ 6901-6992 (2006).

^{8.} Apex, 579 F.3d at 739.

^{9.} *See id.* at 738.

^{10.} United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147 (6th Cir. 1988).

^{11.} Apex, 579 F.3d at 738 (rejecting Whizco, 841 F.2d 147).

^{12. 42} U.S.C. §§ 6901-6992.

^{13.} See 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a) (providing a cause of action for EPA to recover reimbursement of clean-up costs).

^{14.} This is supported by the underlying facts in *Apex*, where the EPA could have pursued a remedy under either RCRA or CERCLA.

reimbursement.¹⁵ The right to reimbursement is seen as a "right to payment" under the language of § 101(5)(B).¹⁶ Yet, under *Apex*, when a debtor is called upon to remedy the same pollution pursuant to the equitable remedy provided by RCRA, the remedy avoids classification as a dischargeable "claim" simply because RCRA does not provide an alternative "right to payment" within its statutory framework ("*Apex* Approach").¹⁷

The Sixth Circuit's decision in *United States v. Whizco*¹⁸ takes the definition of "claim" to the other extreme. *Whizco* holds that any equitable remedy is a "claim" to the extent that it requires a debtor to expend money to comply ("*Whizco* Approach"). The *Whizco* Approach may take the "claim" definition further than the language of § 101(5)(B) will allow. This definition would encompass not only those equitable remedies that require payment of money to the holder of the equitable remedy, but also an unrelated third party. Additionally, the *Whizco* Approach changes the focus of the statute from the point-of-view of the purported claimholder to the point-of-view of the debtor. In other words, the approach taken in *Whizco* would not attempt to determine if the purported claimholder has a "right to payment." Instead, the *Whizco* Approach looks at when the *debtor* must expend money. The state of the state of the status of the status of the status of the status of the debtor.

This article suggests that § 101(5)(B) was intended to discharge any legal or equitable right that can be assigned a monetary value using some defined method of valuation. The defined method for valuing the equitable remedy could come from a statute or a common law theory, as long as it is intended to remedy the same wrong as the equitable remedy.

^{15.} See, e.g., In re CMC Heartland Partners (CMC Heartland I), 966 F.2d 1143, 1146 (7th Cir. 1992) (explaining that to the extent [CERCLA] §§ 106 and 107 [42 U.S.C. §§ 9606-07] require a person to pay money today because of acts before or during the reorganization proceedings, CERCLA creates a "claim" in bankruptcy); United States v. LTV Corp. (In re Chateaugay Corp.), 1008 (2d Cir. 1991) (explaining that an injunction that imposes obligation "solely" as an alternative to payment is a claim, but "if the order, no matter how phrased, requires LTV to take any action that ends or ameliorates current pollution, such an order is not a "claim"); In re Nat'l Gypsum Co., 139 B.R. 397, 405-06 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 1992); LAWRENCE R. AHERN, III & DARLENE T. MARSH, ENVIRONMENTAL OBLIGATIONS IN BANKRUPTCY § 3:15 (Tom Loughlin et. al. cds., Thomson West 2010) (2009).

^{16.} See, e.g., CMC Heartland I, 966 F.2d at 1146; In re Chateaugay Corp., 944 F.2d at 1008; In re Nat'l Gypsum Co., 139 B.R. at 405-06; AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:15.

^{17.} A full discussion of the scope of the *Apex* Approach and the analysis applied by the court is provided *infra* Part III.C.163.

^{18.} United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147 (6th Cir. 1988).

^{19.} *Id.* at 150-151. A full discussion of the scope of the *Whizco* Approach and the analysis applied by the court is provided *infra* Part III.C.2.6369

^{20.} See AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16.

^{21.} See United States v. Apex Oil, 579 F.3d 734, 738 (7th Cir. 2009); id.

^{22.} Whizco, 841 F.2d. at 150-51.

Consistent with that purpose, an injunction under RCRA is a "claim" if some other theory of law, often CERCLA, can be used to determine the monetary value of the RCRA claim ("Proposed Approach"). The Proposed Approach avoids the arbitrary distinction created by the *Apex* decision between equitable remedies arising under RCRA and CERCLA, which will be satisfied out of the same limited financial resources and, which may be directed at remedying the exact same pollution. Additionally, unlike under the *Whizco* Approach, only those equitable remedies that can be valued using some defined cause of action, intended to remedy the same wrongful actions or inactions of the debtor, will be included within the scope of "claim" under § 101(5)(B).

Section II of this article covers a brief overview of two relevant environmental statutes and the scope and history of § 101(5). Section III suggests that § 101(5)(B) lends itself to at least two reasonable interpretations, so the statute must be analyzed in light of the language, history, and purpose of the provision. In order to understand the implication of extrinsic evidence on each of the possible interpretations, Section IV provides an analysis of the application of each interpretation to environmental laws. Further support for the Proposed Approach is provided in Section V, which discusses Supreme Court precedent, the legislative history, and relevant policy considerations. Section VI briefly explains how the Proposed Approach consistently applies to other situations which commonly give rise to issues involving the application of § 101(5)(B). These other situations involve injunctive relief related to covenants not to compete, specific performance and constructive trusts. This article comes to the conclusion that, consistent with Supreme Court precedent and bankruptcy policy, "claim" should include any equitable remedy for which there is an alternative "right to payment" intended to remedy the same wrong, despite the statutory or common law source of the cause of action providing the "right to payment."

II. BACKGROUND

A. Brief Overview of Environmental Laws

A number of examples and cases discussed below require a general understanding of the purpose and structure of two environmental statutes giving rise to inconsistent interpretations of § 101(5)(B). This section provides a brief background of the federal environmental statutes at the

^{23.} A full discussion of the scope of the Proposed Approach and the analysis applied by the court is provided *infra* Part III.C.3.63

center of the issue. Many states have environmental statutes modeled on these federal laws that raise the same issues.²⁴

In 1976, Congress enacted the Resource Conservation Recovery Act ("RCRA")²⁵ to "reduce generation of hazardous waste and to ensure proper treatment, storage, and disposal of waste which is nonetheless generated so as to minimize present and future threat to human health and [the] environment."²⁶ "[U]pon receipt of evidence that the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation or disposal of any solid waste or hazardous waste may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment," the EPA may issue an administrative order or seek an injunction under RCRA requiring a potentially responsible party ("PRP")²⁷ to clean up.²⁸ However, importantly, RCRA does not provide the EPA with any ability to seek a money judgment against PRPs, nor does RCRA provide the EPA with the right to clean up and seek money reimbursement from PRPs.²⁹

A few years after the enactment of RCRA, Congress passed the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA")³⁰ "to promote the timely cleanup of hazardous waste sites and to ensure that the costs of such cleanup efforts were borne by those responsible for the contamination."³¹ CERCLA attempts to achieve the goal of timely cleanup by allowing the EPA³² to act in the event that "there may be an imminent and substantial endangerment to the public health or welfare or the environment because of an actual or threatened release of a hazardous substance."³³ In the event of a release

^{24.} *See, e.g.*, Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274 (1985); Torwico Elecs., Inc. v. N.J. Dep't Envtl. Prot. (*In re* Torwico Elecs., Inc.), 8 F.3d 146, 150 (3d Cir. 1993).

^{25. 42} U.S.C. §§ 6901-6992 (2006).

^{26.} See Meghrig v. KFC Western, Inc., 516 U.S. 479, 483 (1996).

^{27.} See 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a). Potentially responsible party is not defined in RCRA or CERCLA. The term is typically used to indicate parties that fall into the four types of parties that may be held responsible under CERCLA: "1) present owners and operators, 2) owners and operators at the time of the disposal of hazardous substances, 3) generators of hazardous substances, and 4) transporters of hazardous substances," ADAM P. STROCHAK ET. AL., ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES IN BANKRUPTCY CASES 4 (Alan N. Resnick & Henry J. Sommer eds., LexisNexis 2009) (2009), but will often include many of the same parties liable under RCRA.

^{28. 42} U.S.C. § 6973(a).

^{29.} See, e.g., United States v. Apex Oil, 579 F.3d 734, 736 (7th Cir. 2009).

^{30. 42} U.S.C. §§ 9601-9675 (2006).

^{31.} Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. United States, 129 S.Ct. 1870, 1874 (2009) (citing Meghrig v. KFC Western, Inc., 516 U.S. 479, 483 (1996)) (internal quotations omitted).

^{32.} CERCLA empowers the President to act. Presidential powers under CERCLA were delegated to the Administrator of the EPA by Exec. Order No. 12580, 52 Fed. Reg. 2,923 (Jan. 23, 1987) (codified at 3 C.F.R., 1987 comp.).

^{33. 42} U.S.C. § 9606(a).

or threatened release of this type, the EPA has two options.³⁴ The EPA may: 1) issue an administrative order or seek an injunction compelling the debtor to end the release or threatened release,³⁵ or 2) the EPA may use money from the Superfund³⁶ to end the release or threatened release and then seek reimbursement from the PRPs.³⁷ Liability under CERCLA is strict, joint and several amongst PRPs.³⁸

According to the EPA, "[g]enerally, cleanups conducted solely under RCRA corrective action or CERCLA response authority will substantively satisfy the requirements of both programs." The EPA may act under either statutory scheme in the event of an imminent hazard. Additionally, CERCLA governs many of the same substances as RCRA. The definition of "hazardous substance" in CERCLA lists several specific categories of regulated substances in 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14)(A)-(F), including "hazardous wastes" under RCRA. Although RCRA "solid wastes" are not themselves included within the definition of "hazardous substances" under CERCLA, "solid wastes" may be brought within CERCLA's regulatory authority if they also contain "hazardous substances," among other possibilities.

Unlike RCRA, which regulates many petroleum-based products,⁴⁴ CERCLA specifically excludes regulation of "petroleum, including crude oil or any fraction thereof" unless otherwise specifically included within the categories in 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14)(A)-(F).⁴⁵ However, pursuant to

^{34.} See id. §§ 9606(a), 9607(a).

^{35.} *Id.* § 9606(a).

^{36.} This refers to the fund of \$8.5 billion that was created under 42 U.S.C. § 9611(a). The fund was created to help the EPA fund governmental response costs. 42 U.S.C. § 9611(a)(1) (2006).

^{37.} *Id.* § 9607(a). Potentially responsible party is not defined in CERCLA. The term is typically used to indicate parties that fall into the four types of parties that may be held responsible under CERCLA: "1) present owners and operators, 2) owners and operators at the time of the disposal of hazardous substances, 3) generators of hazardous substances, and 4) transporters of hazardous substances."; STROCHAK ET. AL., *supra* note 27, at 4.

^{38.} STROCHAK ET. AL., supra note 27, at 4.

^{39.} CERCLA: THE HAZARDOUS WASTE CLEANUP PROGRAM VI-13, http://www.epa.gov/osw/inforesources/pubs/orientat/rom62.pdf (last visited Nov. 12, 2010).

^{40.} *Id.* at VI-9.

^{41.} See id. at VI-10.

^{42. 42} U.S.C. § 9601(14)(C) (2006).

^{43.} RCRA governs solid and hazardous wastes. 42 U.S.C. § 7003(a), repealed by Energy Policy Act of 1992, Pub. L. No. 102-486, 106 Stat. 2843 (codified as amended in scattered sections of 26 U.S.C.); see also CERCLA: THE HAZARDOUS WASTE CLEANUP PROGRAM, supra note 39, at VI-10.

^{44.} See Charles de Saillan, The Use of Imminent Hazard Provisions of Environmental Laws to Compel Cleanup at Federal Facilities, 27 STAN. ENVTL. L.J. 43, 151 (2008).

^{45. 42} U.S.C. § 9601(14).

the EPA's power to promulgate regulated substances under 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14)(A), many petroleum-based substances are brought back within the scope of CERCLA.⁴⁶ These substances are subject to CERCLA regulation notwithstanding the statute's general exclusion of petroleum related substances.⁴⁷

Despite differences in regulated substances, the imminent hazard provisions in RCRA and CERCLA are similar.⁴⁸ The imminent hazard provisions of both statutes are interpreted fairly broadly.⁴⁹ Courts do not require an emergency situation to find an "imminent and substantial endangerment."⁵⁰ Additionally, the use of the word "may" indicates that the endangerment need not be certain.⁵¹ Further, "endangerment" has been interpreted as meaning that no harm needs to have actually occurred for the EPA to take action.⁵² As long as a substance falls under the regulatory framework of both CERCLA and RCRA, the EPA can proceed under either statute if there is a chance that an imminent and substantial endangerment exists. The end result is that in many circumstances, CERCLA and RCRA provide viable alternative remedies for effectuating the cleanup of any given release or threatened release.⁵³

B. Section 101(5)(B)—Statute and History

The Bankruptcy Code⁵⁴ provides for the discharge of virtually all "debts," limited only by the discharge provision of each bankruptcy chapter⁵⁵ and the general provision in § 523.⁵⁶ "Debt" is defined by the

^{46.} See, e.g., 40 C.F.R. § 302.4 (2009) (providing a list of substances, including petroleum-based substances which the EPA has brought back within the regulatory structure of CERCLA).

^{47.} See, e.g., 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14); 40 C.F.R. § 302.4.

^{48.} See CERCLA: THE HAZARDOUS WASTE CLEANUP PROGRAM, supra note 37, at VI-13 ("[A]uthority under CERCLA § 106 is essentially the same [as under RCRA § 7003], except that CERCLA's authority to force abatement of an imminent or substantial danger to public health or the environment is limited to hazardous substance releases.").

^{49.} de Saillan, *supra* note 44, at 111.

^{50.} See B.F. Goodrich Co. v. Murtha, 697 F. Supp. 89, 96 (D. Conn. 1988), aff'd, 958 F.2d 1192 (2d Cir. 1992) (CERCLA)); id. (citing Dague v. City of Burlington, 935 F.2d 1343, 1355-56 (2d Cir. 1991) (RCRA)).

^{51.} STROCHAK ET. AL., supra note 27, at 5.

^{52.} de Saillan, *supra* note 44, at 111-114.

^{53.} CERCLA: THE HAZARDOUS WASTE CLEANUP PROGRAM, supra note 39, at VI-13.

^{54. 11} U.S.C. §§ 101-1532 (2006).

^{55.} See id. §§ 727, 1141(d), 1128 and 1328. Chapter 15 does not have a discharge provision because it simply provides for recognition of foreign proceedings.

^{56.} Section 523 of the Bankruptcy Code lists nineteen types of debts which are not discharged by bankruptcy, limited by the discharge provision of the applicable chapter. For example, § 523 prevents discharge of certain tax debts, debts owing for money obtained through the perpetration of fraud, and domestic support obligations. See id. § 523.

Code as "liability on a claim."⁵⁷ Because the discharge provisions speak in terms of "debts" discharged and "debt" is defined as "liability on a claim," the meaning of "claim" is central to understanding the scope of a discharge.

"Claim" is defined broadly, as follows:

- (5) The term "claim" means—
 - (A) right to payment, whether or not such right is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured, or unsecured; or
 - **(B)** right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance if such breach gives rise to a right to payment, whether or not such right to an equitable remedy is reduced to judgment, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured, or unsecured.⁵⁸

The scope of the types of debts susceptible to discharge under the nation's first long-standing bankruptcy statute, enacted in 1898, was much more restrictive than the scope of dischargeable "claims" under the current Bankruptcy Code. Section 63 of the Bankruptcy Act of 1898⁵⁹ contained an exhaustive list of obligations considered "debts." Only those obligations falling within the narrow, enumerated types of "debts" in Section 63 could be discharged in bankruptcy. Section 63 did not provide any ability to discharge obligations arising from a cause of action for an equitable remedy. 60

The legislative history of current § 101(5), which defines the term "claim," indicates Congress' intent to drastically enlarge the scope of debts that could be dealt with in bankruptcy under the new Bankruptcy Code. The original version of the bill, H.R. 6, provided a definition of "claim" which included all rights to payment and any "right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance if such breach *does not* give rise to a right to payment, whether or not such right is reduced to judgment, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, or undisputed." The definition in H.R. 6 included obligations requiring

^{57. 11} U.S.C. § 101(12).

^{58.} Id. § 101(5).

^{59.} Bankruptcy Act of 1898, ch. 541, 30 Stat. 544 (1898).

^{60.} United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147 (6th Cir. 1988).

^{61.} See Johnson v. Home State Bank, 501 U.S. 78, 83 (1991) ("Congress intended ... to adopt the broadest available definition of 'claim."); see also S. REP. No. 95-989, at 21-22 (1978); H.R. REP. No. 95-595, at 309 (1977).

^{62.} H.R. 6, 95th Cong. § 101(4)(B) (1st Sess. 1977) (emphasis added).

payment of money as well as all obligations that were purely equitable in nature and did not give their holder a right to receive payment.⁶³

Prior to the enactment of the Bankruptcy Act of 1978, Congress amended what would become § 101(5)(B) to the current definition of "claim," with a slightly more narrow scope than the original H.R. 6.⁶⁴ The House and Senate reports for the enacted version of the bill indicate that Congress expected an interpretation of the term "claim" that would allow all legal obligations of the debtor to be disposed of in bankruptcy.⁶⁵ Additionally, under the enacted version of § 101(4)(B) (now § 101(5)(B)),⁶⁶ only rights to equitable remedies that arise from a "breach of performance," where the "breach" also gives rise to a "right to payment," constitute "claims." This change excluded from the definition of "claim" those equitable remedies awarded for breaches of performance where no alternative "right to payment" existed.⁶⁸

The enacted definition of "claim" was still intended to be extremely broad.⁶⁹ However, the legislative history does not provide much illuminating information on the intended scope of § 101(5)(B). The sparse legislative history on the enacted definition of "claim" only provides an example of one type of situation the changed language would affect.⁷⁰ In some states, if a plaintiff seeking specific performance is denied the equitable remedy of specific performance, he or she may be awarded money damages instead.⁷¹ There are no examples of rights to equitable remedies that do not constitute "claims," nor is there any

^{63.} See AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:10.

^{64.} Compare H.R. 6, 95th Cong. § 101(4)(B) (1st Sess. 1977) with 11 U.S.C. § 101(5) (2006). See also 124 Cong. Rec. S17,406 (daily ed. Oct. 6, 1978) (statement of Sen. DeConcini); 124 Cong. Rec. H11,090 (daily ed. Sept. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

^{65.} S. REP. No. 95-989, at 21-22 (1978); H.R. REP. No. 95-595, at 309 (1977).

^{66.} Section 101(4) of the Bankruptcy Code was redesignated § 101(5) by Pub. L. 101-647 (1990). For consistency and ease to the reader, the provision may be referred to as § 101(5)(B), even if it was designated § 101(4)(B) at the time of the decision in a particular case or article.

^{67.} See 11 U.S.C. § 101(5)(B) ("(5) The term "claim" meansequitable remedy for breach of performance if such breach gives rise to a right to payment, whether or not such right to an equitable remedy is reduced to judgment, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured, or unsecured."); see also 124 Cong. Rec. S17,406 (daily ed. Oct. 6, 1978) (statement of Sen. DeConcini); 124 Cong. Rec. H11,090 (daily ed. Sept. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

^{68.} See AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:10.

^{69.} See, e.g., Johnson v. Home State Bank, 501 U.S. 78, 83 (1991).

^{70.} See 124 CONG. REC. S17,406 (daily ed. Oct. 6, 1978) (statement of Scn. DeConcini); 124 CONG. REC. H11,090 (daily ed. Sept. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

^{71.} See 124 CONG. REC. S17,406 (daily ed. Oct. 6, 1978) (statement of Sen. DeConcini); 124 CONG. REC. H11,090 (daily ed. Sept. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

further explanation of how to apply the language of the statute to the specific performance example. 72

Although no authority exists on the issue, the change in language from the H.R. 6 version to the enacted version suggests that Congress wanted to exclude from the scope of "claim" those equitable remedies that could only be complied with by requiring a party to act in a certain manner. Congress did, however, want to include equitable remedies for which money could be substituted within the definition of "claim" under the Code. To get a better idea of the scope Congress intended to give the defined term "claim," it is necessary to look at the meaning of the key phrases "right to an equitable remedy," "right to payment" and "breach of performance."

III. THE LANGUAGE OF § 101(5)(B)

The Supreme Court has recognized a "fundamental canon that statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute itself." If the meaning of the statute is clear from its language, the sole function of courts is to apply the language as written unless application would lead to an absurd result. However, if the words of a statute are ambiguous, then the court may look to extrinsic evidence of the meaning of the statutory language. A statute is ambiguous when it is capable of being understood by reasonably well-informed persons in two or more different senses. In the event that a statute is capable of two or more different meanings, the interpretation that furthers the goals and legislative history of the statute as a whole should be chosen.

Section 101(5)(B) defines "claim" to include any:

right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance if such breach gives rise to a right to payment, whether or not such right to an equitable remedy is reduced to judgment, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured, or unsecured.

^{72.} Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 36 (1st Cir. 2009).

^{73.} Pa. Dep't of Pub. Welfare v. Davenport, 495 U.S. 552, 557-58 (1990) (citing Landreth Timber Co. v. Landreth, 471 U.S. 681, 685 (1985)).

^{74.} See United States v. Ron Pair Enters., 489 U.S. 235, 241-42 (1989); In re Kaiser Aluminum Corp., 456 F.3d 328, 330 (3d Cir. 2006) ("A basic principle of statutory construction is that we should avoid a statutory interpretation that leads to absurd results.").

^{75.} See Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Allapattah Serv., Inc., 545 U.S. 546, 568 (2005).

^{76.} See generally United Bank of Iowa v. Indep. Inputs (In re W. Iowa Limestone, Inc.), 538 F.3d 858 (8th Cir. 2008).

^{77.} See, e.g., Brodie v. Schmutz (In re Venture Mortg. Fund, L.P.), 282 F.3d 185, 188 (2d Cir. 2002).

A plain reading of § 101(5)(B) indicates that any "right to an equitable remedy," which can alternatively be satisfied by a "right to payment" arising from the same "breach of performance," constitutes a "claim" and is thus subject to discharge in bankruptcy. As the Supreme Court has noted, the key phrases in § 101(5)(B) ("equitable remedy," breach of performance, and 'right to payment") are not defined in the Code. The Seventh Circuit has suggested that the Supreme Court's note in *Ohio v. Kovacs* that these three phrases were not defined in the Code must have meant that the phrases were ambiguous. However, as pointed out by the dissent in *In re Udell*, simply because phrases in a provision are not defined does not mean that the provision as a whole is ambiguous.

A. The "Right to an Equitable Remedy"

The Supreme Court considered the meaning of the phrase "right to an equitable remedy" in *Ohio v. Kovacs.*⁸³ The Court found that there was "little doubt" that the State of Ohio held a "right to an equitable remedy" under a state law providing injunctive relief requiring a debtor to clean up pollution.⁸⁴ In *Kovacs*, the State's "right to an equitable remedy" had simply been reduced to judgment already.⁸⁵

Although the *Kovacs* decision is sufficient for purposes of determining whether a RCRA or CERCLA injunction falls within the meaning of "right to an equitable remedy," it is useful to note that courts have interpreted the meaning of "equitable remedy" consistently with the typical legal definition of the phrase.⁸⁶ Ballentine's Legal Dictionary defines "equitable remedy" as "[a] remedy available in equity rather than

^{78.} Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 36 (1st Cir. 2009).

^{79.} See Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274, 280 (1985).

^{80.} Id.

^{81.} See In re Udell, 18 F.3d 403, 406-07 (7th Cir. 1994).

^{82.} *See id.* at 411, n.2 (Flaum, J., dissenting) (citing Conn. Nat. Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 252-54 (1992); Corning v. Brennan, 417 U.S. 188, 201 (1974).

^{83.} Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274.

^{84.} Id. at 278.

^{85.} Id. at 279.

^{86.} See, e.g., id. at 279-80 ("There is little doubt that the State had the right to an equitable remedy under state law and that the right has been reduced to judgment in the form of an injunction ordering the cleanup."); Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 37 (1st Cir. 2009) (explaining that reinstatement under Title VII is an equitable remedy for purposes of § 101(5)(B)); In re Nickels Midway Pier, LLC, 255 Fed. Appx. 633 (3d Cir. 2007) (finding specific performance is an "equitable remedy" for purposes of § 101(5)(B)); Tekinsight.Com v. Stylesite Mktg., Inc. (In re Stylesite Mktg., Inc.), 253 B.R. 503, 507 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2000) (citing In re Omegas Grp., Inc., 16 F.3d 1443, 1449 (6th Cir. 1994)) (explaining that a "constructive trust is an equitable remedy"); CRS Steam, Inc. v. Eng'g Res., Inc. (In re CRS Steam, Inc.), 225 B.R. 833, 840 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1998).

law; generally relief other than money damages."⁸⁷ Historically, equitable remedies were not available unless the remedy at law was considered insufficient, but with the convergence of courts of equity and courts of law, courts are much more willing to provide the complete remedy, whether it is an equitable remedy or monetary remedy.⁸⁸

Further, it is important to recognize that under §101(5)(B), whether a right is "reduced to judgment, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured, or unsecured" does not affect its status as a "right to an equitable remedy." 89

B. The "Right to Payment"

Section 101(5)(A) also states the required "right to payment" for purposes of § 101(5)(B). On several occasions, the Supreme Court has held that a "right to payment [under §101(5)(A)] is nothing more nor less than an enforceable obligation." Usually, the "right to payment" is an enforceable obligation arising under state law. However, the "right to payment" may arise from an enforceable federal obligation as well. As § 101(5)(A) explains, a "right to payment" is no less of a "right to payment" just because the right is "unliquidated, contingent, unmatured

^{87.} BALLENTINE'S LEGAL DICTIONARY AND THESAURUS, 218 (1995).

^{88.} See, e.g., Maids Int'l, Inc. v. Ward (In re Ward), 194 B.R. 703, 711-12 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1996) (citing Douglas Laycock, The Death of the Irreparable Injury Rule, 103 HARV. L. REV. 687 (1990)) (discussing the history of availability of equitable remedies, the decrease in importance of the "no adequate remedy at law" rule, and the general availability of equitable remedies even when damages are available but not the most "certain, prompt, complete, and efficient" remedy).

^{89. 11} U.S.C. § 101(5)(B) (2006) (emphasis added); accord In re Skorich, 482 F.3d 21, 25 (1st Cir. 2007).

^{90.} See, e.g., Cohen v. de la Cruz, 523 U.S. 213, 218 (1998) (citing Pa. Dep't of Pub. Welfare v. Davenport, 495 U.S. 552, 559 (1990)) (finding that treble damages awarded under a New Jersey state statute constituted an "enforceable obligation" under New Jersey law, and therefore constituted a "right to payment"). See also F.C.C. v. NextWave Pers. Commc'ns Inc., 537 U.S. 293, 302-03 (2003) (internal quotations and citation omitted).

^{91.} Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co. of Am. v. Pac. Gas & Elec. Co., 549 U.S. 443, 450 (2007).

^{92.} See In re Nat'l Gypsum Co., 139 B.R. 397, 405 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 1992) (explaining that an analysis of non-bankruptcy law is required to determine whether a "claim" exists under § 101(5)); accord Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 37 (1st Cir. 2009) (explaining that a right to payment arises out of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Americans With Disabilities Act); In re CMC Heartland Partners (CMC Heartland I), 966 F.2d 1143, 1146 (7th Cir. 1992) (iterating that to the extent [CERCLA] §§ 106 and 107 [42 U.S.C. §§ 9606-07] require a person to pay money today because of acts before or during the reorganization proceedings, CERCLA creates a "claim" in bankruptcy); United States v. LTV Corp. (In re Chateaugay Corp.), 944 F.2d 997, 1004 (2d Cir. 1991) (discussing possibility of a right to payment arising under CERCLA).

or disputed."⁹³ Likewise, the creditors' intention not to enforce the "right to payment" makes it no less of a "right to payment."⁹⁴ As long as a party holds a monetary obligation that is enforceable under federal or state law, even if contingent, the party holds a "right to payment" for purposes of § 101(5)(A).⁹⁵ This same definition holds for purposes of determining when a "claim" exists under § 101(5)(B).⁹⁶ It is the *right* to the payment, not a party's intention to enforce the right that converts an equitable remedy to a "claim" under § 101(5)(B).⁹⁷

A split in authority exists regarding the proper method for determining when a "right to payment" arises for bankruptcy purposes. ⁹⁸ Courts disagree on whether a missing element of a cause of action is simply a contingency for purposes of § 101(5), or whether all elements must be completed before a "right to payment," and thus a "claim," exists. ⁹⁹ These differences in interpretation affect when a "claim" arises for purposes of § 101(5). ¹⁰⁰ However, the differing interpretations do not affect the more fundamental question of whether the completed cause of

^{93. 11} U.S.C. § 101(5)(A).

^{94.} *In re* Kilpatrick, 160 B.R. 560, 567 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 1993) ("[T]he text of § 101(5)(B) strongly implies that such a party's intentions vis-a-vis enforcement of a payment right are irrelevant to the determination of whether that party holds a claim."); *In re* Chateaugay Corp., 112 B.R. 513, 523 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1990), *aff'd*, 944 F.2d 997 (2d Cir. 1991) ("Thus, where a creditor has the option of converting an injunction into a right to monetary compensation, as the EPA can do here if it performs the cleanup because of a PRP's failure to do so, such an obligation must be regarded as a dischargeable claim."). On appeal, the Second Circuit agreed with the bankruptcy court stating that "[a]n injunction that does no more than impose an obligation entirely as an alternative to a payment right is dischargeable." *In re* Chateaugay Corp., 944 F.2d 997, 1008 (2d Cir. 1991).

^{95.} See In re Kilpatrick, 160 B.R. at 567.

^{96.} See Irizarry v. Schmidt (In re Irizarry), 171 B.R. 874, 878 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 1994) (looking at whether a "right to payment" existed under the § 101(5)(A) definition in determining whether an equitable remedy was a claim under § 101(5)(B)).

^{97. 11} U.S.C. § 101(5)(B) (emphasis added); *accord* Ford v. Skorich (*In re* Skorich), 482 F.3d 21, 25 (1st Cir. 2007).

^{98.} See, e.g., Wongco v. Federated Dep't Stores, Inc. (In re R.H. Macy & Co., Inc.), 283 B.R. 140 (Bankr. S.D. N.Y. 2002); Antonino v. Kenny (In re Antonino), 241 B.R. 883 (Bankr. N.D. III. 1999); see also In re Chateaugay, 944 F.2d at 1009 (determining when a "right to payment" arises under CERCLA statute and thus creates a "claim" for bankruptcy purposes).

^{99.} See Cal. Dep't of Health Servs. v. Jensen (In re Jensen), 995 F.2d 925, 929 (9th Cir. 1993) (don't need all elements to be present for a claim to arise, which would mean the EPA would not yet have authority to act when the obligations became "claims"); In re Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pac. R.R. Co., 974 F.2d 775 (7th Cir. 1992); In re Nat'l Gypsum Co., 139 B.R. 397, 405 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 1992) (obligation need not be ripe, so long as all the acts giving rise to CERCLA liabilities have occurred). But see United States v. Union Scrap Iron & Metal, 123 B.R. 831, 835 (Bankr. D. Minn. 1990) ("all the elements necessary to give rise to a legal obligation under the relative substantive non-bankruptcy law" must occur before a right to payment under 101(5)(A) arises).

^{100.} AHERN & MARSH, *supra* note 15, at § 3:5.

action falls within the definition of "claim" under the Bankruptcy Code at all. Because we are concerned with determining whether certain equitable remedies can constitute claims in the first place, we will leave the other question, involving when the claim arises, for another day. 102

C. The "Breach of Performance"

The third operative phrase in the § 101(5)(B) definition of "claim" is "breach of performance." The Supreme Court has weighed in on the meaning of "breach of performance," but decided only a narrow issue regarding the meaning of this phrase. The Court found that a "breach of performance" can arise from violation of a statute, in addition to breach of a contract. ¹⁰³

Although not part of its holding, other portions of the Supreme Court's *Kovacs* decision implicitly bear on the interpretation of "breach of performance" in § 101(5)(B). In *Kovacs*, the Supreme Court held that Ohio had converted its equitable remedy under an environmental statute (an injunction) into a "right to payment" by appointing a receiver to liquidate the debtor's assets and pay for compliance with the requirements of the cleanup injunction. Ohio appointed the receiver pursuant to a general receiver statute. In other words, in *Kovacs*, the "right to payment" arose from the fact that the State obtained appointment of a receiver, *not* because the original "breach" gave rise to a statutory or common law "right to payment." This holding seems to be at odds with the text of § 101(5)(B), which "clearly requires that the breach, not the equitable remedy, give rise to a right to payment."

Perhaps the best explanation is that the *Kovacs* decision provides a narrow, additional basis for including rights to equitable remedies within the definition of "claim," under the unique facts in that case. This is the conclusion reached by the Seventh Circuit in *In re Udell*. ¹⁰⁷ The court in *Udell* wrestled with the *Kovacs* decision and concluded that a "right to an equitable remedy" can be a "claim" if it falls into one of two categories. First, if the "breach" giving rise to the "right to an equitable remedy" also gives rise to an "'alternative' right to payment," the "right to an

^{101.} *Id*.

^{102.} For more reading on the timing issue, see id. at §§ 3:19-3:33.

^{103.} See Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274, 279 (1985).

^{104.} Id. at 283.

^{105.} See AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16 (discussing the receiver statute, OHIO REV. CODE § 2735.01 (1985), at issue in the case).

^{106.} Maids Int'l, Inc. v. Ward (*In re* Ward), 194 B.R. 703, 713-14 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1996); accord Glass v. Prein, 3 S.W.3d 135, 139 n. 6 (Tex. App. 1999).

^{107.} In re Udell, 18 F.3d 403 (7th Cir. 1994).

70

equitable remedy" is a "claim." This is the definition in the text of § 101(5)(B). Additionally, the *Udell* decision suggests that if a "right to payment" arises "with respect to" the equitable remedy, it will be a claim. The court did not expound upon when a "right to payment" arises "with respect to" an equitable remedy." Instead, the *Udell* court simply found that the test was not met under the facts of the case. This second class of "claims," where the "right to payment" arises "with respect to" the equitable remedy, seems to be the *Udell* court's response to the narrow expansion of the definition of "claim" under the *Kovacs* decision.

The additional scope of "claim" discussed in the *Kovacs* and *Udell* cases can be left aside for now because this expansion only becomes relevant after the text of § 101(5)(B) has been fully analyzed. With that in mind, the text of the statute requires that the "breach of performance" must give rise to the "right to an equitable remedy," and that "such breach" must also give rise to the "right to payment" before the "right to an equitable remedy" is a "claim" under § 101(5)(B). In light of this requirement, the phrase "breach of performance" is critical to an understanding of § 101(5)(B).

Three circuits have considered whether an injunction arising under an environmental statute, like RCRA, which does not provide a "right to payment," falls within the scope of "claim." The results of these decisions, while not directly discussing the "breach," bear on the interpretation of the phrase "breach of performance." The relative strengths and weaknesses of each will be discussed, leading to a discussion of how the Proposed Approach attempts to minimize the weaknesses of the other approaches.

As an initial matter, however, the phrase "breach of performance" suggests that: 1) there must be some performance required by the debtor and 2) the debtor must breach the required performance. A court must first identify the "performance" required of the debtor. Then the court can determine if the debtor has breached the required performance.

^{108.} See id. at 408 (finding the "necessary relationship" between a right to payment and a right to an equitable remedy where the right to payment is an "alternative" to the right to an equitable remedy).

^{109.} Id. at 407.

^{110.} See id. at 409.

^{111.} See 11 U.S.C. § 101(5)(B) (2006); In re Ward, 194 B.R. at 713-714; Glass, 3 S.W. 3d at 139 n. 6.

^{112.} This number is somewhat misleading. The Sixth and Seventh Circuits have dealt with these types of statutes. The Third Circuit decided *In re* Torwico Elecs., Inc., 8 F.3d 146 (3d Cir. 1993), where the court based its decision on the alleged fact that no right to payment existed. However, the statute at issue in *Torwico* did provide an alternative right to payment. This will be discussed further, *see infra* Part III.C.4.

1. United States v. Apex Oil—the "Apex Approach"

The Seventh Circuit recently held, in *Apex*, that a cleanup injunction issued pursuant to RCRA did not constitute a claim under § 101(5)(B) because RCRA did not include a cause of action providing money damages, i.e. a "right to payment." The Apex court recognized that the government's cleanup injunction, issued under RCRA, was an equitable remedy for purposes of § 101(5)(B). However, it seems that neither party argued that CERCLA provided a "right to payment" for the debtor's "breach." Because no one argued that the court should look at CERCLA for an alternative "right to payment," the Apex court ignored CERCLA as a source of the alternative "right to payment." Additionally, the Seventh Circuit ignored the debtor's argument that the Clean Water Act or the Oil Pollution Liability Act might provide an alternative. 115 The court determined that RCRA only provided a "right to an equitable remedy," and not a "right [of the plaintiff] to payment" for the debtor's "breach." 116 As a result, the RCRA injunction did not constitute a § 101(5)(B) "claim." 117

In the *Apex* case, the EPA claimed that Apex was liable for cleanup under RCRA as a successor to Clark Oil & Refinery Co. ("Clark"), which filed for Chapter 11 relief in 1987. Clark emerged from bankruptcy as the reorganized entity Apex Oil, Co. ("Apex") under a plan of reorganization that was confirmed in 1990. Prior to the Clark bankruptcy, the EPA had been investigating possible contamination caused by Clark on property adjacent to one of Clark's refining plants. However, the EPA did not file a proof of claim in the Clark bankruptcy regarding the pollution of the property at issue in the case. Although neither Clark nor Apex had ever owned the contaminated property, the EPA brought an action against Apex under RCRA some fifteen years

^{113.} United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734, 738 (7th Cir. 2009).

^{114.} Id. at 736.

^{115.} See Brief and Attached Appendix of Defendant-Appellant Apex Oil Co., Inc. at 34-35, United States v. Apex Oil, Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009) (No. 08-3433), 2009 WL 927822 (arguing that the Clean Water Act and Oil Pollution Liability Act gave the EPA the right to clean up and seek reimbursement from Apex).

^{116.} Apex, 579 F.3d at 736-37.

^{117.} *Id.* at 737 (insertion in original).

^{118.} Petition for a Writ of Certiorari at 5, United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009) (No. 09-1023), 2010 U.S. S. Ct. Briefs LEXIS 350, cert. denied, 79 U.S.L.W. 3195 (2010).

^{119.} Id.

^{120.} Id.

^{121.} Id.

after the Clark bankruptcy, asserting liability based on Apex's status as a successor to the potentially responsible party, Clark. 122

Apex asserted that the RCRA injunction could only be complied with by expenditure of money. Attempting to mirror the argument accepted by the Supreme Court in *Ohio v. Kovacs*, Apex claimed that because it had never, and currently did not, own or have access to the contaminated property, the company could only comply with the order by hiring someone to do the cleanup at a substantial cost. Consistent with the Sixth Circuit's interpretation of *Kovacs*, Apex suggested that the injunctive order was a "claim" that had been discharged in the prior Clark bankruptcy because the only means of compliance with the order was expenditure of money. The Seventh Circuit rejected this argument, finding that the cost to Apex was not a "right [of the plaintiff] to payment" under § 101(5)(B).

Because a CERCLA claim was seemingly not presented as a viable alternative "right to payment," the court used an unnecessarily narrow interpretation of the scope of § 101(5)(B). In *Apex*, the equitable remedy was the RCRA injunction. In terms of the two-step inquiry discussed above, the *Apex* court viewed the required "performance" as Apex's continual compliance with the provisions of RCRA as a whole. The "breach," then, would occur when Apex violated the statute. So far, this is in conformity with the statute. Namely, the RCRA injunction (the equitable remedy) was for violation (the breach) of a duty to comply with the provisions of RCRA (the required performance).

The problem with the *Apex* decision involves the court's search for an alternative "right to payment" to convert the RCRA injunction into a "claim" under § 101(5)(B). According to § 101(5)(B), the "breach" must also give rise to the "right to payment" for the relevant "right to an equitable remedy" to constitute a "claim." The *Apex* court determined that since RCRA did not provide a "right to payment," no alternative

^{122.} Id. at 6-8.

^{123.} Petition for a Writ of Certiorari at 8, United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009) (No. 09-1023), 2010 U.S. S. Ct. Briefs LEXIS 350, *cert. denied*, 79 U.S.L.W. 3195 (2010).

^{124.} *Id*.

^{125.} For a further discussion of the Sixth Circuit's decision in United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147 (6th Cir. 1988), see infra Part III.C.2.

^{126.} Apex, 579 F.3d at 737-38.

^{127.} Id. at 737 (insertion in original).

^{128.} *Id.* at 737-38 (RCRA is basis of EPA's equitable claim).

^{129.} See United States v. Apex Oil Co., 438 F. Supp. 2d 948, 950 (S.D. Ill. 2006), aff'd, 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009) ("The government here seeks an equitable remedy for Defendant's alleged breach of a statute.").

^{130.} See 11 U.S.C. § 101(5)(B) (2006).

right to payment existed.¹³¹ However, it is not important whether the *statute* provides an alternative "right to payment." What is important is whether the "breach" gives rise to a "right to payment." In Apex, the "breach" was the violation of RCRA; that is, the "breach" was the debtor's release or threatened release of some substance. Confining the search for a "right to payment" to the RCRA statute was too narrow, because, as discussed further below, CERCLA, or some other statute, may provide an alternative "right to payment" to remedy the same "breach"—discharge of regulated substances by the debtor. If legally sufficient, that "right to payment" should have converted the RCRA injunction to a "claim" under § 101(5)(B).

2. United States v. Whizco—The "Whizco Approach"

The *Apex* court rejected the approach taken by the Sixth Circuit in *United States v. Whizco* without any substantial analysis. Other commentators have also suggested that the *Whizco* interpretation does not conform to the language of § 101(5)(B). In *Whizco*, the Sixth Circuit purported to apply the *Kovacs* rule and held that an injunction under the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 ("Mining Act") was a claim to the extent that the injunction required the debtor to expend money to comply. The court applied a substance over form approach and determined that, although the injunction, in form, sought to require the debtor to clean up, in substance, the state just sought money with which to perform the cleanup. Because the Mining Act, like RCRA, provides only injunctive relief and does not include a provision allowing money damages, it is relevant to the RCRA analysis.

In *Whizco*, Whizco and its sole shareholder Mr. Leuking filed for Chapter 11 relief.¹⁴⁰ The debtors later converted the case to a Chapter 7 liquidation after the United States filed a complaint alleging that the debtor had failed to comply with the Mining Act.¹⁴¹ The United States

^{131.} See Apex, 579 F.3d at 736-37.

^{132.} Maids Int'l, Inc. v. Ward (*In re* Ward), 194 B.R. 703, 713-14 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1996); *accord* Glass v. Prcin, 3 S.W.3d 135, 139 n. 6 (Tex. App. 1999).

^{133.} See Complaint at 9-13, United States v. Apex Oil Co., 438 F. Supp. 2d 948 (S.D. Ill. 2006) (No. 05-CV-242-DRH), 2005 U.S. Dist. Ct. Pleadings LEXIS 14481.

^{134.} See infra Part IV.B.3.

^{135.} United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147 (6th Cir. 1988).

^{136.} See, e.g., AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16.

^{137.} Whizeo, 841 F.2d at 150-51.

^{138.} Id.; accord AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16.

^{139.} Whizco, 841 F.2d at 148; see also AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16.

^{140.} Whizco, 841 F.2d at 148.

^{141.} See id.; 30 U.S.C. § 1201-1328 (2006)

sought injunctive relief preventing the debtors from mining coal anywhere in the U.S. until they remedied the violations of the Mining Act. 142 Under the Mining Act, the Attorney General could file an "action for relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction, restraining order, or any other appropriate order." However, similar to RCRA, and unlike the EPA's rights under CERCLA, the Mining Act did not allow the U.S. to reclaim the mine and then seek money reimbursement. 144

The Sixth Circuit held that the injunction constituted a "claim" under § 101(5)(B) to the extent that the injunction did not require the debtor to perform personally, but instead required the debtor to expend money. Thus, Mr. Leuking's obligation under the cleanup injunction, which would have required him to hire a third party to reclaim the mine, was a dischargeable "claim." The Whizco court relied, as did the district court, on a portion of the Supreme Court's Kovacs decision in finding that the reclamation obligation constituted a claim.

The *Whizco* court quoted from the portion of the Supreme Court's *Kovacs* decision that stated:

Ohio is essentially trying to obtain a money payment from Kovacs. The impact of its attempt to realize upon Kovacs' income or property cannot be concealed by legerdemain or linguistic gymnastics. Kovacs cannot personally clean up the waste he wrongfully released into Ohio waters. He cannot perform the affirmative obligation properly imposed upon him by the State court except by paying money or transferring over his own financial resources. The State of Ohio has acknowledged this by its steadfast pursuit of payment as an alternative to personal performance.

Finding that the United States, in substance, was seeking money as an alternative to personal performance of Mr. Leuking, the *Whizco* court held that the cleanup injunction was a dischargeable claim in the *Whizco* bankruptcy to the extent the injunction required Mr. Leuking to spend money. 149

As mentioned above, the *Whizco* decision does not fit the strict language of § 101(5)(B). In order to fall within the language of

^{142.} Whizco, 841 F.2d at 148.

^{143.} *Id.* (citing 30 U.S.C. § 1271).

^{144.} *Id.*

^{145.} Id. at 150-51.

^{146.} Id.

^{147.} Id. at 149 (quoting Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274, 282 (1985)).

^{148.} Whizco, 841 F.2d at 149 (quoting Kovacs, 469 U.S. at 282) (emphasis in Whizco opinion).

^{149.} Id. at 150-51.

§ 101(5)(B), a "right to payment" must exist. There was no evidence in *Whizco* that the United States had a "right to payment." Neither party provided a statutory or common law theory upon which the United States could base a "right to payment."

Because the facts of *Whizco* do not give rise to a "claim" under the language of § 101(5)(B), the court must have been making its decision under the narrowly expanded rule in *Kovacs*, as evidenced by the above quote. Unfortunately, the *Whizco* decision seems to go further than the *Kovacs* decision will allow.

The *Kovacs* decision,¹⁵¹ along with § 101(5)(B), suggests that the holder of the "right to an equitable remedy" must also have a "right to payment" from the debtor.¹⁵² The "right to payment" must be held by the *holder of the equitable right*, not some other third party.¹⁵³

Additionally, the *Whizco* decision turns the phrase "right to payment" into "requirement to expend money," such that an equitable remedy constitutes a claim if the debtor could satisfy the equitable remedy by spending money instead. This changes the inquiry from the perspective of the creditor, focused on "a right to payment" or a "right to an equitable remedy," to the perspective of the debtor, focused on the requirement that the debtor spend money. This is opposed to both § 101(5)(B) and the *Kovacs* decision, which view the issue from the perspective of the creditor. This is one of the inconsistencies which the Proposed Approach, discussed below, attempts to correct.

Further, in *Kovacs*, the Court held that Ohio had a "right to payment" after it used a receiver statute to take control of Mr. Kovacs' assets. The *Kovacs* Court explicitly stated that it was not deciding what the legal consequences would have been had Mr. Kovacs filed for bankruptcy prior to the appointment of a receiver. Since no receiver had been appointed in *Whizco*, the court's decision cannot rely upon the *Kovacs* rule.

One additional, practical weakness of the *Whizco* Approach exists. The *Whizco* court held that a "right to an equitable remedy" is a

^{150.} AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16.

^{151.} Kovacs, 469 U.S. at 274 (1985).

^{152.} See United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734, 737 (7th Cir. 2009) and cases cited therein; accord AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16.

^{153.} See Apex, 579 F.3d at 737 and cases cited therein: accord AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16.

^{154. 11} U.S.C. § 101(5)(B) (2006) (defining "claim" using the phrases "right to payment" and "right to an equitable remedy" of the claimholder); *Kovacs*, 469 U.S. at 274 (focusing on the government's actions and perspective when determining whether the State's actions had converted the right to an equitable remedy to a claim under § 101(5)(B)).

^{155.} Kovacs, 469 U.S. at 283.

^{156.} Id. at 284.

dischargeable "claim" to the extent it requires the debtor to spend money. This could effectively discharge the obligation to convey land under a specific performance judgment, contrary to the sole example in the legislative history. A specific performance decree requiring the debtor to transfer property will almost always require the debtor to spend some money, usually in the nature of recording fees and taxes. If the obligation to spend money on these costs is discharged in bankruptcy, an inconsistency occurs. The debtor is required to transfer the property, but not to spend money on the transfer fees to transfer the property. If the debtor has not paid the transfer fees at the time of filing a petition for bankruptcy (or at the time of confirmation of a plan in a chapter 11 case), the obligation to pay those transfer fees will be discharged, effectively discharging the debtor's obligation to convey the land.

The *Whizco* Approach fails to comply with either the language of the statute or the narrow additional scope of "claim" under *Kovacs*, where the holder of "right to an equitable remedy" has obtained a receiver to liquidate the debtor's property and perform the actions required by the equitable remedy. The addition of a practical problem with the approach casts doubt on the viability of the *Whizco* Approach.

3. The Proposed Approach

This article proposes an approach ("Proposed Approach") to interpretation of § 101(5)(B) that finds a "right to an equitable remedy" to be a "claim" if there is some common law or statutory theory which can be used to reduce the equitable right to a monetary value. The Proposed Approach views the wrongful actions, or inactions, of the debtor as the "breach." Under this Proposed Approach, if the wrongful actions of the debtor give rise to a "right to payment" and a "right to an equitable remedy," then the "right to an equitable remedy" is a "claim" under § 101(5)(B). It does not matter if the "right to payment" and the "right to an equitable remedy" arise under different theories of law. As long as both rights arise from the same wrongful action or inaction of the debtor, the right to the equitable remedy is a claim.

Keeping with the RCRA example, if the debtor causes a release or threatened release of some substance regulated by RCRA, then RCRA provides a "right to an equitable remedy." RCRA does not provide a

^{157.} United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147, 150-51 (6th Cir. 1988).

^{158.} See 124 CONG. REC. S33,992 (daily ed. Oct. 5, 1978) (statement of Sen. DeConcini); 124 Cong. Rec. H32,393 (daily ed. Sep. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

^{159.} See 42 U.S.C. § 6973(a) (2006).

"right to payment." However, as discussed above, it is not the *statute* giving rise to the "right to an equitable remedy" that must give rise to the "right to payment." Instead, it is the *breach*, the debtor's actions, which must give rise to the "right to payment." Thus, if some other theory of law, such as CERCLA, provides a "right to payment" for causing the same release or threatened release, then the RCRA injunction should constitute a claim under § 101(5)(B).

Under the Proposed Approach, if the debtor's wrongful actions or inactions give rise to both a "right to an equitable remedy" and a "right to payment," then the "right to an equitable remedy" is converted to a § 101(5)(B) "claim." As such, the "claim" may be discharged in bankruptcy regardless of the legal theories giving rise to the alternative As discussed further below, this is consistent with the narrowed definition of § 101(5)(B) enacted by Congress, which indicates that Congress did not intend all equitable remedies to be discharged, but only those equitable remedies that could be reduced to a money value. 162 Additionally, the Proposed Approach, unlike the Whizco Approach, keeps the focus on the perspective of the creditor, and not the debtor. The Proposed Approach does not affect treatment of equitable remedies in the narrow circumstances when a "claim" may not fit the exact definition of "claim" in § 101(5)(B), but still falls within the scope of the Before applying the various approaches to the Kovacs rule. environmental context, it is useful to explain how the Proposed Approach would apply generally in the contractual and statutory context. After all, a "breach of performance" can arise in the context of a contractual or a statutory dispute. 163

a. The "Breach of Performance" in Contracts Cases

Determining what "performance" is required under a contract is generally fairly simple. A typical contractual provision requires the debtor to successfully complete some contractual duty. 164 It is the

^{160.} Whizco, 841 F.2d at 149 n.2.

^{161.} See supra Part III.C.1.

^{162.} See CRS Steam, Inc. v. Eng'g Res., Inc. (In re CRS Steam, Inc.), 225 B.R. 833, 844 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1998); see also Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 36-37 (1st Cir. 2009) (focusing on the ability of the court to reduce an equitable remedy to a payment amount).

^{163.} Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274, 278 (1985).

^{164.} BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1158 (Deluxe 7th ed. 1999) (defining performance as "[t]he successful completion of a contractual duty"). There is significant disagreement about the interpretation of § 101(5)(B) in the context of covenants not compete. As discussed *infra* Part VI.A., the dispute over whether an injunction enforcing a covenant not to compete falls within the scope of § 101(5)(B) is a result of differing views as to

completion of this contractual duty that can be viewed as the required "performance" by a party to the contract. For example, in a land sale contract, the seller generally has a duty to convey the land to the buyer and to do so in accordance with the terms of the contract. Successful completion of this duty results in successful "performance." This successful completion of the contractual duty to convey the land will also be the required "performance" for purposes of § 101(5)(B).

If the debtor acts in some way that is inconsistent with the duty required by the contract (e.g. by selling the property to someone else or not conveying the property at all), the debtor's actions or inaction constitute a "breach." It is this "breach" that gives rise to remedies for breach of contract. It follows, that this "breach," the improper actions by the debtor, must give rise to the "right to payment" to convert any "right to an equitable remedy" to a claim under § 101(5)(B).

Kennedy v. Medicap Pharmacies, Inc. 170 provides an example of this concept. In Kennedy, the Kennedys' former employer, Medicap, filed an adversary proceeding in the Kennedy bankruptcy seeking a determination that the Kennedys' obligation to comply with a covenant not to compete would not be discharged. In discussing the underlying facts of the case, the Sixth Circuit stated "[t]he Kennedys concede that they breached the covenant not to compete by working in a pharmacy known as Kennedy Pharmacy at the same location as the Medicap Pharmacy." This statement suggests that it was the actions of the debtor, competing within a restricted area, which constituted the "breach." In response to the "breach," Medicap sued, seeking a permanent injunction for breach of the contract not to compete.

whether the applicable state law provides a "right to payment" as an alternative to the injunctive remedy. The dispute does not involve statutory interpretation of §101(5)(B).

^{165.} BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1158 (Deluxe 7th ed. 1999).

^{166. 11} U.S.C. § 101(5)(B) (2006); see also id.

^{167.} See, e.g., Kennedy v. Medicap Pharmacies, Inc., 267 F.3d 493, 495-98 (6th Cir. 2001) (finding that defendants "concede that they breached the covenant not to compete by working in a pharmacy known as Kennedy Pharmacy at the same location as the Medicap Pharmacy." (emphasis added)); In re CRS Steam, Inc., 225 B.R. at 836 (focusing on debtor's misappropriation of designs and failure to disclose as the "breach of performance" which gave rise to both a breach of contract claim and a trade secret claim).

^{168.} See RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 236 cmt. a (1981) ("A breach may be one by non-performance (§ 235(2)), or by repudiation (§ 253), or by both (§ 243).").

^{169.} Maids Int'l, Inc. v. Ward (*In re* Ward), 194 B.R. 703, 713-14 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1996); *accord* Glass v. Prcin, 3 S.W.3d 135, 139 n. 6 (Tex. App. 1999).

^{170.} Kennedy, 267 F.3d 493 (6th Cir. 2001).

^{171.} Id. at 495.

^{172.} Id.

^{173.} See id.

^{174.} *Id*.

Putting this all together, we see that the required "performance" for purposes of § 101(5)(B) in a contractual situation is the successful completion of the duty or duties imposed on the debtor under the contract. A "breach" of the required performance occurs when the debtor acts, or fails to act, in a manner contrary to the successful completion of the contractual duty. Under § 101(5)(B), then, it is this "breach," the actions or inactions of the debtor, which must give rise to rights to both payment and an equitable remedy. If both remedies exist, the "right to an equitable remedy," whether pursued or not, If is a "claim" under § 101(5)(B).

b. The "Breach of Performance" in Statutory Cases

The analysis becomes a little more difficult when the "breach of performance" relates to a statutory provision. This is because the requirements of a statute are generally couched in terms of prohibitions, e.g. companies must not release industrial cleaners into the environment, and because the term "performance" is not typically used in a statutory context. Analogizing from the contractual context, "performance" under a statute requires the debtor to comply with some statutory duty. The duty under a statute is defined by the statute itself. As an example, we will focus on RCRA. Thus, "performance" by a debtor, for purposes of § 101(5)(B) in the RCRA context, requires the debtor to comply with RCRA's provisions.

As in the contractual context, the "breach" of the statutory duty is the action or inaction by the debtor that violates a statutory duty. For

^{175. 11} U.S.C. § 101(5)(B) (2006) ("right to an equitable remedy for *breach* of performance if such *breach* gives rise to a right to payment") (emphasis added).

^{176.} In re Kilpatrick, 160 B.R. 560, 567 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 1993) (stating that "the text of § 101(5)(B) strongly implies that such a party's intentions vis-a-vis enforcement of a payment right are irrelevant to the determination of whether that party holds a claim").

^{177.} See supra Part II.C.3.a.

^{178.} See Cox v. City of Dallas, Tex., 256 F.3d 281, 297 (5th Cir. 2001) ("[T]he RCRA creates, at the very least, a duty on the part of generators not to dispose of their waste in such a manner that it may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment."); Black's Law Dictionary 1158 (Deluxe 7th ed. 1999) (defining performance as "[t]he successful completion of a contractual duty").

^{179.} See CRS Steam, Inc. v. Eng'g Res., Inc. (In re CRS Steam, Inc.), 225 B.R. 833, 836 (Bank. D. Mass. 1998) (focusing on debtor's misappropriation of designs and failure to disclose as the "breach of performance" which gave rise to both a breach of contract claim and a trade secret claim); United States v. LTV Corp. (In re Chateaugay Corp.), 112 B.R. 513, 523 (S.D.N.Y. 1990), aff'd, 944 F.2d 997 (2d Cir. 1991) (focusing on debtors "conduct" of releasing pollutants when determining if a right to an injunction constituted a claim under § 101(5)(B)); see also Brief for Kathryn R. Heidt as Amici Curiae Supporting Petitioners at 14-16, In re Torwico Elecs., Inc. 8 F.3d 146, 150 (3d Cir. 1993) (suggesting that CERCLA remedies are an alternative sufficient to convert RCRA

example, the court in *In re CRS Steam* dealt with a violation of the Illinois Trade Secrets Act ("ITSA"). In *CRS Steam*, the court determined that the debtor's actions, involving the "misappropriation" of a 'trade secret' by 'improper means' consisting of 'breach of a confidential relationship or other duty to maintain secrecy" constituted the "breach of performance" under § 101(5)(B).¹⁸⁰

Similarly, in the RCRA example, the actions by the debtor that are not in compliance with RCRA and result in a violation of some RCRA provision constitute the "breach." Namely, the release or threatened release of a regulated substance constitutes the breach. And, again, it is this "breach" that gives rise to liability under RCRA. Additionally, it is this "breach," the debtor's actions, that must give rise to rights to both payment and an equitable remedy to convert a "right to an equitable remedy" to a claim under § 101(5)(B).

4. The *Torwico* Case

For the sake of completeness, it bears mentioning that the Third Circuit has dealt with a similar issue under a statute similar in structure to RCRA. In *In re Torwico Electronics, Inc.*, the Third Circuit dealt with an injunction issued under a New Jersey law. The *Torwico* court held that even though Torwico no longer owned or possessed the polluted property, the cleanup obligation imposed by an administrative order issued by the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection and Energy (NJDEPE) was not a "claim" and was not discharged in Torwico's bankruptcy. 182

In *Torwico*, Torwico rented property near the Jersey shore, but moved to a new location in 1985. Later, in 1989, Torwico filed for bankruptcy. The NJDEPE failed to file proof of claim in the Torwico bankruptcy. After the NJDEPE issued an administrative order, Torwico argued that the obligation fell within the definition of "claim" in the Bankruptcy Code, and was, therefore, dischargeable in the bankruptcy. Torwico claimed that this was the exact scenario faced by the debtor in *Ohio v. Kovacs* and that the Supreme Court had determined

remedies to claims under a plain meaning approach to § 101(5)(B)); AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16 (suggesting an outcome consistent with this approach).

^{180.} In re CRS Steam, 225 B.R. at 840.

^{181.} See In re Torwico Elecs., Inc., 8 F.3d at 150; AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16.

^{182.} See In re Torwico Elecs., Inc., 8 F.3d at 151.

^{183.} *Id.* at 147; AHERN & MARSH, *supra* note 15, at § 3:16.

^{184.} In re Torwico Elecs., Inc., 8 F.3d at 147.

^{185.} Id. at 148.

that this type of obligation was a dischargeable "claim." After all, Torwico no longer owned or possessed the property and no longer had access to the property to perform the cleanup. The only way that Torwico could effectuate the cleanup, as was the situation with Mr. Kovacs, would be to pay money to clean up the property. The Third Circuit disagreed and found that obligations to clean up "run with the waste." The court held that the NJDEPE was seeking an equitable remedy that was not a "repackaged" claim for damages, and the cleanup obligation was not a dischargeable "claim."

The *Torwico* case was wrongly decided for a number of reasons. First, the situation in *Torwico* was nearly identical to the situation in *Kovacs*, and so the cleanup obligation should have been characterized as a claim under the rule in *Kovacs*. ¹⁹¹ Second, and more fundamentally, the NJDEPE did have an alternative right to payment. ¹⁹² The NJDEPE had the right to clean up and seek reimbursement. ¹⁹³ Because the analysis in *Torwico* fails to recognize either of these inconsistencies, it will be mostly ignored as an unreasonable interpretation of the statute in the next discussion regarding the application of the various approaches in environmental cases.

IV. APPLICATION OF THE APPROCHES IN ENVIRONMENTAL CASES

Several of the previously discussed approaches arguably provide reasonable interpretations of § 101(5)(B). In order to choose among the various interpretations, it is necessary to more closely consider how Supreme Court precedent, as well as the legislative history and bankruptcy policy, weighs on the interpretation of § 101(5)(B). However, prior to considering extrinsic evidence, it is necessary to review how the *Apex* Approach, the *Whizco* Approach and the Proposed Approach apply to environmental causes of action under each of: 1) statutes like CERLCA, where a single statutory framework provides both a "right to payment" and a "right to an equitable remedy," and 2) statutes like RCRA, where the statutory framework only provides the

^{186.} Id. at 149.

^{187.} See id. at 151.

^{188.} AHERN & MARSH, *supra* note 15, at § 3:16.

^{189.} *In re* Torwico Elecs., Inc., 8 F.3d at 151.

^{190.} Id.

^{191.} AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:16.

^{192.} Kathryn R. Heidt, *Undermining Bankruptcy Law and Policy: Torwico Electronics, Inc. v. New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection*, 56 U. PITT. L. REV. 627, 636 (1995).

^{193.} Id.

^{194.} See, e.g., United States v. LTV Corp. (In re Chateaugay Corp.), 944 F.2d 997, 1008 (2d Cir. 1991).

"right to an equitable remedy" and a court would be required to look elsewhere for any alternative "right to payment."

A. CERCLA Analysis Remains Unchanged Under All Approaches

The general treatment of equitable remedies arising under CERCLA will remain unaffected by application of the *Apex* Approach, the *Whizeo* Approach, or the Proposed Approach. As discussed previously, courts generally agree that the "right to an equitable remedy" provided by CERCLA § 106(a)¹⁹⁶ constitutes a "claim," at least in circumstances where the EPA has the alternative right to clean up and seek reimbursement for its expenses under CERCLA § 107(a).¹⁹⁷ There is some disagreement about when the right to clean up and seek reimbursement under CERCLA § 107(a) arises.¹⁹⁸ However, the outcome of that dispute only affects the issue involving *when* a "claim" arises under § 101(5)(B), *not* the inclusion of the "right to an equitable remedy" under CERCLA § 106(a) within the Code's definition of "claim." ¹⁹⁹

Because enforcement of an injunction under CERCLA § 106(a) would require the debtor to expend money to clean up, a cause of action for an injunction under CERCLA § 106(a) constitutes a "claim" under the *Whizco* Approach. Additionally, under the *Apex* Approach, a "right to an equitable remedy" arising under CERCLA § 106(a) would constitute a "claim" because the breach, violation of CERCLA § 106(a), also gives rise to a right to obtain the "right to payment" provided by CERCLA § 107(a). Because both remedies are available as a result of the breach of CERCLA § 106(a), the "right to an equitable remedy" under § 106(a) constitutes a "claim."

The same result occurs when the Proposed Approach is applied, but results from a different analysis. Once again, the Proposed Approach looks at the actions of the debtor that give rise to the "right to an equitable remedy" under CERCLA § 106(a). The relevant actions are the release or threatened release of a substance regulated by CERCLA. The Proposed Approach then asks if there is any other cause of action that provides a "right to payment" for those wrongful actions. CERCLA § 107(a) provides a "right to payment" to remedy the debtor's wrongful

^{195.} United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734, 736 (7th Cir. 2009).

^{196. 42} U.S.C. § 9607(a) (2006).

^{197.} Id. § 9606(a); see, e.g., In re Chateaugay Corp., 944 F.2d at 1008.

^{198.} AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:5.

^{199.} *Id*

^{200.} See United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147, 151 (6th Cir. 1988).

^{201.} *Id*

^{202.} See, e.g., In re Chateaugay Corp., 944 F.2d at 1008.

actions, so the right to an equitable remedy under CERCLA § 106(a) constitutes a claim. The only difference between the *Apex* Approach and the Proposed Approach in the CERCLA context is that the Proposed Approach would allow the court to look for the "right to payment" outside the CERCLA statute even though that would generally be unnecessary because of the right to payment available under CERCLA § 107(a).²⁰³

B. The RCRA Analysis Differs Under the Various Approaches

1. RCRA Analysis Under the *Apex* Approach

As discussed above, the *Apex* court looked only within the text of RCRA in search of a "right to payment" which would convert the equitable remedy to a § 101(5)(B) "claim." The court determined that no "right to payment" existed for what it perceived to be the "breach," i.e. violation of RCRA § 7003. As a result, the cleanup injunction issued pursuant to RCRA did not constitute a "claim" which had been discharged in Clark's prior bankruptcy. The *Apex* court did not even consider "rights to payment" that could have been pursued by the EPA under other environmental statutes, including CERCLA, the Oil Pollution Liability Act and the Clean Water Act. 207

2. RCRA Analysis Under the Whizco Approach

Under the *Whizco* Approach a right to an injunction under RCRA constitutes a "claim" in almost all circumstances.²⁰⁸ Certainly a debtor's obligation to clean up pollution under a RCRA injunction will be a "claim" where the debtor does not have control of the property, and can only effectuate the terms of the injunction by hiring someone to do the cleanup.²⁰⁹ That is precisely what the Sixth Circuit held in *Whizco*.²¹⁰ There is no need to look for an alternative "right to payment" under RCRA, CERCLA, or any other statute or common law theory because

^{203.} Perhaps nuisance law or the Clean Water or Clean Air Acts would provide another means of recovering for the debtor's wrongful release of pollutants.

^{204.} United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734, 736 (7th Cir. 2009).

^{205.} Id.

^{206.} Id. at 736, 739.

^{207.} EPA originally initiated an attempt to require Apex to clean-up the site under the authority of CERCLA and the Clean Water Act. Petition for a Writ of Certiorari at 6-7, United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009) (No. 09-1023), 2010 U.S. S. Ct. Briefs LEXIS 350, *cert. denied*, 79 U.S.L.W. 3195 (2010).

^{208.} See Apex, 579 F.3d at 737.

^{209.} United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147, 151 (6th Cir. 1988).

^{210.} Id.

the injunction is converted to a "claim" simply by virtue of the fact that the debtor must spend money to comply with the injunction.²¹¹

3. RCRA Analysis Under the Proposed Approach

The Proposed Approach brings a "right to an equitable remedy" within the scope of "claim" under § 101(5)(B) even if the "right to payment" arises under a different statute than the "right to an equitable remedy." However, the Proposed Approach does not go quite as far as the *Whizco* Approach and still requires that the "right to payment" be provided by some statutory or common law theory. This prevents the court from off-handedly devising a means of liquidating the alleged "claim."

For example, the debtor's violation of RCRA § 7003(a)²¹² in *Apex* was a result of the debtor's actions of releasing pollutants, which resulted in an "imminent and substantial endangerment." Under the Proposed Approach, it is the action of the debtor in causing the release or threatened release of pollutants that constitutes the "breach." Viewing the debtor's actions or inactions as the "breach" allows a court to look to any cause of action intended to fully remedy the debtor's pollution.

As previously discussed, CERCLA generally provides a "right to payment" that can be utilized to remedy pollution which is or may be causing "imminent and substantial endangerment." The EPA's course of conduct in the *Apex* case suggests a "right to payment" may have existed under CERCLA as a remedy for the pollution. Prior to bringing the RCRA action to impose a cleanup order on Apex, the EPA threatened that if Apex did not clean up the pollution, they would institute a cleanup of the property and seek reimbursement from Apex under CERCLA and the Clean Water Act. Possibly because the money remedies would constitute "claims" that would be deemed to have been discharged in Clark's prior bankruptcy, the EPA refrained from pursuing its

^{211.} See id.

^{212.} United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734, 739 (7th Cir. 2009).

^{213.} EPA's reimbursement right under CERCLA § 107(a). 42 U.S.C. § 9607(a) (2006); see United States v. LTV Corp. (In re Chateaugay Corp.), 944 F.2d 997, 1008 (2d Cir. 1991).

^{214.} Petition for a Writ of Certiorari at 6-7, United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009) (No. 09-1023), 2010 U.S. S. Ct. Briefs LEXIS 350, cert. denied, 79 U.S.L.W. 3195 (2010).

^{215.} Id.

^{216.} See, e.g., In re Chateaugay Corp., 944 F.2d at 1008.

remedies under CERCLA and the Clean Water Act and instead instituted the action under RCRA to obtain an injunction.²¹⁷

The EPA's RCRA claim required a showing of "imminent and substantial endangerment" to human health or to the environment caused by a release or threatened release of a "solid waste" or "hazardous waste." In *Apex*, the EPA alleged that Clark disposed of "[g]asoline and other petroleum-based substances . . . [which] constitute 'hazardous wastes' or 'solid wastes' as those terms are defined at RCRA Sections 1004(5) and 1004(27)." EPA requested an injunctive "order requiring Apex Oil to investigate and clean up the large plume of petroleum-based substances beneath [the polluted property]." A plain reading of the EPA complaint suggests that the EPA is alleging a "right to an equitable remedy," an injunctive cleanup order under RCRA.

Under CERCLA, the EPA would be required to make essentially the same showing of an "imminent and substantial endangerment" to human health or to the environment, but would have to show that the substances causing the endangerment constituted "hazardous substances" as defined in CERCLA.²²² If the EPA can show "imminent and substantial endangerment" in its RCRA case, it would also be able to do so in a CERCLA case.

Completing the CERCLA claim, all of the wastes that the EPA alleged were contaminating the polluted site at issue in *Apex* fall within the definition of "hazardous substance" in CERCLA even though they are petroleum based substances. Although CERCLA creates a so-called "petroleum exclusion," the exclusion does not apply to any byproducts of petroleum consumption that are otherwise specifically listed as "hazardous substances." A table listing substances that are expressly deemed "hazardous substances" within the meaning of CERCLA is provided in 40 C.F.R. § 302.4. Table 302.4 includes all five substances alleged by the EPA's *Apex* complaint to be polluting the air and ground

^{217.} Petition for a Writ of Certiorari at 6-8, United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009) (No. 09-1023), 2010 U.S. S. Ct. Briefs LEXIS 350, cert. denied, 79 U.S.L.W. 3195 (2010).

^{218. 42} U.S.C. § 6973(a).

^{219.} Complaint at 1, United States v. Apex Oil, Co., 438 F. Supp. 2d 948 (S.D. III. Apr. 5, 2005) (No. OS-cv-242-DRH), 2005 U.S. Dist. Ct. Pleadings LEXIS 14481.

²²⁰ *Id* at 2

^{221.} See Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274 (1985) (finding a cleanup injunction to be an equitable remedy covered by § 101(5)(B)).

^{222. 42} U.S.C. §§ 9606(a), 9607(a).

^{223.} CERCLA § 101(14), 42 U.S.C. § 9601(14), discussed supra Part II.A.

at issue.²²⁴ These substances include: benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene, xylenes and n-hexane.²²⁵

The inclusion of all of the substances in the *Apex* complaint within the scope of "hazardous substances" may create a viable "right to payment" under CERCLA.²²⁶ Such an enforceable obligation would amount to a "right to payment" under § 101(5)(B), converting any RCRA injunctive remedy to a "claim" discharged in Clarks' prior bankruptcy. The fact that the EPA did not indicate any intention of enforcing the alternative right, again, should not have prevented the court from considering the alternative "rights to payment" which would convert the "right to an equitable remedy" to a claim.²²⁷

The Proposed Approach allows a court to look to CERCLA, as well as any other statute or common law cause of action, to determine if an alternative "right to payment" exists which arises from the "breach," i.e. the debtor's actions of releasing or causing the release of pollutants. In the end, the Proposed Approach requires application of the simple two-step process discussed above. When a plaintiff asserts an equitable remedy against the debtor, the court first looks at the actions of the

^{224. 40} CFR § 302.4 (2010).

^{225.} The table in 40 C.F.R. § 302.4 includes hexane with a CAS identification of 110–54–3. Hexane is the same as n-hexane or normal hexane, as opposed to several related to substances that are sometimes referred to under the blanket term "hexanes." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Toxicological Review of N-Hexane 8 (2005), available at http://www.epa.gov/IRIS/toxreviews/0486tr.pdf (discussing n-hexane under the CAS #110-54-3 and noting that it is "also referred to as hexane").

^{226.} See Brief for Appellant-Petitioner at 14, United States v. Apex Oil, Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir., Jan. 28, 2009) (No. 08-3433), 2009 U.S. 7th Cir. Briefs LEXIS 70 (Apex summed up the finding of the trial court in its Seventh Circuit brief by stating that the trial court determined that "a cleanup order under RCRA is not a 'claim' within the meaning of 11 U.S.C. §101(5)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code unless the operative statute (i.e., RCRA) also provides, in the alternative, for the direct imposition of a money judgment against the defendant."). Even if CERCLA did not apply, the court should have at least considered other possible alternative "rights to payment," such as causes of action under the Clean Water Act or the Oil Pollution Liability Act, which were argued by Apex. Brief of Appellee-Respondent at 19-20, United States v. Apex Oil, Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir., Mar. 20, 2009) (No. 08-3433), 2009 U.S. 7th Cir. Briefs LEXIS 91 (arguing that the Clean Water Act and Oil Pollution Liability Act gave the EPA the right to clean up and seek reimbursement from Apex).

^{227.} *In re* Kilpatrick, 160 B.R. 560, 567 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 1993) ("[T]he text of § 101(5)(B) strongly implies that such a party's intentions vis-a-vis enforcement of a payment right are irrelevant to the determination of whether that party holds a claim."); *In re* Chateaugay Corp., 112 B.R. 513, 523 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1990), *aff'd*, 944 F.2d 997 (2d Cir. 1991) ("Thus, where a creditor has the option of converting an injunction into a right to monetary compensation, as the EPA can do here if it performs the cleanup because of a PRP's failure to do so, such an obligation must be regarded as a dischargeable claim."). On appeal, the Second Circuit agreed with the bankruptcy court stating that "[a]n injunction that does no more than impose an obligation entirely as an alternative to a payment right is dischargeable." *In re* Chateaugay Corp., 944 F.2d 997, 1008 (2d Cir. 1991).

debtor that the plaintiff alleges give it the "right to an equitable remedy." Next, the court determines if those same actions by the debtor also give rise to a cause of action providing a money damage remedy. If so, the plaintiff has asserted a "right to an equitable remedy" which can be satisfied by a "right to payment" and the equitable remedy constitutes a § 101(5)(B) claim which can be discharged in bankruptcy.

V. OTHER EVIDENCE WEIGHING ON THE INTERPRETATION OF § 101(5)(B)

A. Interpreting § 101(5)(B) in Light of Ohio v. Kovacs

The Supreme Court's decision in *Ohio v. Kovacs* bears on the meaning of §101(5)(B) slightly, but courts and commentators have recognized *Kovacs'* limited application in light of the strange facts of that case. In *Kovacs*, the Supreme Court held that a cleanup injunction issued under an Ohio statute providing injunctive relief had been converted to a claim when the State of Ohio attempted to essentially liquidate the injunction through the use of a general receiver statute.

In *Kovacs*, Mr. Kovacs was ordered to clean up pollution that his company had created.²³¹ The State of Ohio also ordered Mr. Kovacs to pay \$75,000 to compensate for injury to the State's wildlife.²³² When Mr. Kovacs did not comply with the order, the State of Ohio sought appointment of a receiver to have Mr. Kovacs' assets liquidated and have the proceeds of the liquidation applied to clean up the property.²³³ After the receiver took possession of Mr. Kovacs' property, but before the receiver could liquidate the assets, Mr. Kovacs filed for bankruptcy.²³⁴

The Supreme Court determined that by appointing a receiver pursuant to state statute in an effort to obtain money that could be used to clean up the property, the State of Ohio had converted the equitable injunctive remedy into a "right to payment." The *Kovacs* Court was

^{228.} United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147, 150 (6th Cir. 1988); AHERN & MARSH, *supra* note 15, at § 3:16.

^{229.} See Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274, 276 (1985); OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 6111 (West 2009); Brief for Petitioner at 4, Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274 (1985) (No. 83-1020), 1984 WL 565574.

^{230.} See Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 2735.01 (West 2009); Brief of Respondent at 9, Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274 (1985) (No. 83-1020), 1983 WL 486397.

^{231.} Kovacs, 469 U.S. at 276.

^{232.} *Id*.

^{233.} Id.

^{234.} Id. at 276.

^{235.} Id. at 283.

careful to limit its holding to the facts of the case at bar.²³⁶ In determining that the State of Ohio had a "right to payment" converting the injunctive remedy to a "claim," the Court focused on the fact that the State had dispossessed Kovacs, leaving Kovacs without the ability to perform the obligations imposed by the injunction.²³⁷ Additionally, the Court noted that the State of Ohio did not dispute that all it wanted from Kovacs was money to pursue the cleanup effort.²³⁸

The Kovacs decision should be read as the exception, not the rule. The viability of the holding in that case is limited to the facts of the case, which were very unusual. Kovacs indicates that there are collection efforts by a state that may convert an equitable right to a "right to payment," as recognized by the court in Udell and discussed above, but the efforts must leave the debtor unable to perform the obligations required by the injunction and must seek nothing more than money to allow the judgment creditor to perform the acts required by the injunction. 240

1. Kovacs and the Apex Approach

Although the *Apex* Approach provides at least a plausible interpretation of § 101(5)(B), it, like the other possible interpretations, is not without its weaknesses. The *Apex* court's practical application does not align with the decision in *Ohio v. Kovacs*.

In *Kovacs*, the equitable remedy (the cleanup injunction) and "right to payment" (stemming from the receiver statute) arose under different statutes. The State of Ohio had an equitable remedy under Ohio's Water Supply-Sanitation-Ditches legislation.²⁴¹ This piece of Ohio legislation parallels the federal Clean Water Act. The "right to payment" arising from Ohio's appointment of a receiver and dispossession of Mr. Kovacs' property proceeded under a separate statute.²⁴² That statute provided "Special Remedies" that courts were permitted to order and the State of Ohio sought the appointment of the receiver under the general contempt

^{236.} See id. at 276 (noting what the court had not decided); United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147, 150 (6th Cir. 1988) (noting the "limited character" of the Kovacs decision).

^{237.} Kovacs, 469 U.S. at 283.

^{238.} *Id.*

^{239.} See id. at 276 (1985) (noting what the court had not decided); Whizeo, 841 F.2d at 150 (noting the "limited character" of the Kovacs decision).

^{240.} See, e.g., In re Udell, 18 F.3d 403, 407-08 (7th Cir. 1994); see generally Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274.

^{241.} See Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 6111 (West 2009); Brief of Petitioner at 4, Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274 (1985) (No. 83-1020), 1984 WL 565574.

^{242.} See OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 2735.01; Brief of Respondent at 9, Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274 (1985) (No. 83-1020), 1983 WL 486397.

power of the court.²⁴³ These two alternative remedies, one being equitable and one being monetary, came from different Ohio legislation.²⁴⁴

The willingness of the Supreme Court to look to a separate piece of legislation to locate a "right to payment" that converted the equitable remedy obtained under a clean water statute belies the practical effect of the *Apex* court's failure to look to other statutes for a "right to payment." Nothing in *Kovacs* suggests that courts should limit the scope of their search for an alternative "right to payment" to the same piece of legislation that also provided the "right to an equitable remedy." Indeed, the Supreme Court did not limit its scope of inquiry in this manner. ²⁴⁵

2. Kovacs and the Proposed Approach

Like the *Apex* Approach, a weakness of the Proposed Approach is that it is difficult to reconcile with the *Kovacs* decision. In *Kovacs*, the "right to payment" did not arise from a separate cause of action that could have been brought instead of the cause of action providing the "right to an equitable remedy." In other words, the State of Ohio could not have sought to have a receiver appointed to marshal and liquidate Mr. Kovacs' assets without first obtaining the equitable remedy. ²⁴⁶ Only after the State proved that it had a "right to an equitable remedy" under the environmental laws would a "right to payment" arise under the State's receiver statutes. ²⁴⁷

This is arguably inconsistent with the Proposed Approach. It is also arguably inconsistent with the language of § 101(5)(B) of the Code because the *Kovacs* decision suggests that a "right to payment" arising from the "right to the equitable remedy," rather than the "breach," can constitute a § 101(5)(B) claim. However, the limited scope of the *Kovacs* decision must be recognized. As discussed above, the *Kovacs* decision can be viewed as a narrow expansion of the scope of § 101(5)(B). Just because the court in *Kovacs* found an equitable remedy

^{243.} See Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 2735.01 (Statutory chapter heading is "Courts-General Provisions- Special Remedies").

^{244.} Petition for a Writ of Certiorari at 6-8, United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009) (No. 09-1023), 2010 U.S. S. Ct. Briefs LEXIS 350, cert. denied, 79 U.S.L.W. 3195 (2010).

^{245.} Id.

^{246.} See Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 2735.01 (West 2009).

^{247.} See id

^{248.} Maids Int'l, Inc. v. Ward (*In re* Ward), 194 B.R. 703, 713-14 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1996); accord Glass v. Prcin, 3 S.W.3d 135, 139 n. 6 (Tex. App. 1999).

^{249.} United States v. Whizco, Inc., 841 F.2d 147, 151 (6th Cir. 1988); AHERN & MARSH, *supra* note 15, at § 3:16.

^{250.} See supra Part V.A.

to be a claim because a "right to payment" arose out of the "right to an equitable remedy" does not mean that the "right to payment" must always arise out of the "right to an equitable remedy." Instead, only in the unique and unusual circumstances faced by the *Kovacs* Court should courts deviate from the mandate of § 101(5)(B) that the "breach" give rise to both the "right to payment" and the "right to an equitable remedy." If facts similar to those in *Kovacs* present themselves, then the narrow additional grounds for deeming an injunction a "claim" should be applied.

3. Kovacs and the Whizco Approach

As discussed above, ²⁵¹ the *Whizco* decision arguably comports with the decision in *Kovacs*. In *Whizco*, Mr. Leuking did not have the capacity to clean up the polluted site himself, and the only means of compliance would be to pay someone to do the clean up. ²⁵² This arguably falls within the holding of *Kovacs*. ²⁵³

However, the *Kovacs* Court specifically stated that it was not deciding whether a right to an equitable remedy would constitute a claim under § 101(5)(B) if the State of Ohio had not already appointed a receiver who had taken over control of Mr. Kovacs' property.²⁵⁴ The *Whizco* decision arguably falls within the undecided area defined by the Court in *Kovacs*. Additionally, as previously discussed, *Whizco* changes the perspective of the inquiry from that of the creditor to the perspective of the debtor.²⁵⁵ Further, unlike the situation in *Kovacs* where there was a statutory basis for the process of converting the equitable remedy to money for the cleanup, *Whizco* does not require this. Instead, the *Whizco* Approach might require bankruptcy courts to determine the value of the equitable remedy without reference to any process provided by statute or common law. These practical limitations of the *Whizco* Approach are some of the issues that the Proposed Approach attempts to remedy.

B. Statutory Interpretation of §101(5)(B)

Although each of the above approaches has its weaknesses, the *Apex* and Proposed Approaches both present reasonable interpretations of the statute. Therefore, the meaning of the language of § 101(5)(B)

^{251.} See supra Part III.C.2.

^{252.} Whizco, 841 F.2d at 150.

^{253.} See Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274, 282-83 (1985).

^{254.} Id. at 284-85.

^{255.} See supra Part III.C.2.

^{256.} Although *Whizeo* arguably provides a viable interpretation in the situations in which the *Kovacs* rule applies, it dos not conform to the language of the statute in those

must be determined in light of the history and purpose of the provision and the Code as a whole.²⁵⁷ This section considers each approach in light of the sparse legislative history and the purposes of the Bankruptcy Code.²⁵⁸ Practical implications of the approaches are also considered.

C. The Legislative History of § 101(5)(B)

The legislative history of § 101(5) indicates that Congress intended an extremely expansive interpretation of the term "claim." "In enacting this language [in § 101(5)], Congress gave the term claim the broadest available definition." As discussed above, the legislative history of §101(5) suggests that the definition of claim was intended to "allow all legal obligations of the debtor, no matter how remote or contingent, [to] be able to be dealt with in the bankruptcy case." Additionally, § 101(5)(B) was intended to "ensure[] that even the most uncertain and difficult to estimate claims can be adjudicated in the bankruptcy proceedings."

In accordance with the desire of Congress to "adopt the broadest available definition of 'claim,'" the Supreme Court has taken an extremely inclusive, rather than an exclusive, approach to interpreting § 101(5).²⁶³ In doing so, the Court noted the "expansive language" chosen by Congress and discussed in the legislative history.²⁶⁴ Circuit, district, and bankruptcy courts should follow the lead of the Supreme Court and

situations falling outside the scope of *Kovacs*. For this reason, the *Whizco* Approach will be commented on only briefly in the following discussion.

^{257.} See In re Condor Ins. Ltd., 601 F.3d 319, 321-23 (5th Cir. 2010).

^{258.} As discussed, the *Whizco* Approach is discussed briefly in the following analysis, however, it should be discounted as a possible approach because of its failure to comply with the language of § 101(5)(B).

^{259.} See Johnson v. Home State Bank, 501 U.S. 78, 83 (1991) ("Congress intended ... to adopt the broadest available definition of 'claim."); see also S. REP. No. 989, at 21-22 (1978); H.R. REP. No. 595, at 309 (1977).

^{260.} Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 35-36 (2009) (internal quotations omitted); see also Home State Bank, 501 U.S. at 83 (discussing in the context of § 101(5)(A)); Pa. Dep't. of Pub. Welfare v. Davenport, 495 U.S. 552, 558 (1990) (discussing in the context of § 101(5)(A)).

^{261.} S. REP. No. 989, at 21-22 (1978); H.R. REP. No. 595, at 309 (1977).

^{262.} Rederford, 589 F.3d at 36 (internal quotations omitted).

^{263.} See Home State Bank, 501 U.S. at 83 (extinguishment of debtor's personal liability on a mortgage in a chapter 7 proceeding did not prevent the remaining obligation owing bank from being a "claim" under § 101(5) in a subsequent Chapter 13); Davenport, 495 U.S. at 558 (holding that restitution obligations arising from state criminal statute constituted "debt" (debt being "coextensive" with the term claim) that could be discharged in Chapter 13 proceeding); Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274, 280 (1985) (affirming Circuit Court's decision that state's equitable remedy under a statutory provision not providing an alternative right to payment "had been converted into an obligation to pay money, an obligation that was dischargeable in bankruptcy").

^{264.} Davenport, 495 U.S. at 558.

interpret § 101(5)(B) in a manner which discharges as many rights to equitable remedies as possible in bankruptcy, rather than letting those obligations survive bankruptcy and be dealt with outside the bankruptcy process. However, as noted by the court in *In re Bennett*, ²⁶⁵ despite how "broad [it is], the definition of claim is not without limits" and any interpretation must still comply with the text of § 101(5)(B)²⁶⁶ unless the expanded *Kovacs* rule is clearly applicable.

By only looking at alternative monetary remedies contained within the same statute as the "right to an equitable remedy," the *Apex* Approach takes an exclusive interpretation of the term "claim" in conflict with the legislative history. This is exhibited by the language and result of the Seventh Circuit's opinion in *Apex*. The *Apex* court focused on the debtor's "limited right to the discharge of equitable claims" and refused to include an equitable remedy that could have been fully remedied by a "right to payment" provided by another statute. The restrictive result of the *Apex* decision did not conform to the broad interpretation of "claim" suggested by the legislative history and, instead, left in place a \$150 million obligation of the debtor. On the other hand, the Proposed Approach gives the statute the expansive interpretation required by the legislative history without ignoring the language of the statute and takes a view similar to the First Circuit's recent decision in *Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc.* ²⁷²

In conformity with the legislative history's call for a broad interpretation of the definition of "claim," the *Rederford* court found that including equitable remedies that could be reduced to payment within the scope of "claim" under § 101(5)(B) "ensures that even the most uncertain and difficult to estimate claims can be adjudicated in the bankruptcy proceedings." However, the court recognized that "[w]hen the equitable relief sought cannot give rise to a payment, but requires non-monetary action by a debtor, different considerations come into play," and the equitable relief cannot be liquidated and prioritized.²⁷⁴

^{265. 175} B.R. 181 (Bankr. E.D. Pa.1994).

^{266.} Id. at 183.

^{267.} See S. REP. No. 989, at 21-22 (1978); H.R. REP. No. 595, at 309 (1977); see also Home State Bank, 501 U.S. at 83 ("Congress intended . . . to adopt the broadest available definition of 'claim."").

^{268.} United States v. Apex Oil, 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009).

^{269.} Id. at 737.

^{270.} Id.

^{271.} Id. at 736.

^{272. 589} F.3d 30, 36 (1st Cir. 2009) (noting that equitable remedies that cannot be reduced to payment are not claims).

^{273.} *Id.* (internal quotations omitted).

^{274.} *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). It is well to note that the *Rederford* court does not discuss what these other considerations are.

Like the *Rederford* court, the Proposed Approach liquidates all equitable remedies that can be reduced to payment. This is done by looking for any cause of action providing a "right to payment" that arises from the same wrongful actions of the debtor. If such a cause of action exists, the equitable remedy is capable of reduction to payment and constitutes a "claim" under § 101(5)(B). However, at the same time, the Proposed Approach (unlike the *Whizco* Approach) recognizes that § 101(5)(B) is not limitless and cannot be used to discharge equitable remedies that cannot be reduced to payment.²⁷⁵

D. Bankruptcy Policy

It is important to first note that bankruptcy policy provides the proper area of inquiry, rather than policy rooted in the area of law providing the "right to an equitable remedy." Certainly "[w]hen two statutes are capable of co-existence, it is the duty of the courts, absent a clearly expressed congressional intention to the contrary, to regard each as effective." However, many laws attempt to promote policies that directly conflict with bankruptcy policies.²⁷⁷

Bankruptcy laws are intended to promote a number of policies by providing the debtor with a discharge of all debts, subject to limited exceptions. Environmental laws that attempt to hold polluting parties responsible for the cost to clean up hazardous waste often promote policies that conflict with the bankruptcy policies. These competing interests are generally resolved in favor of promoting bankruptcy policy because bankruptcy law is intended to be a comprehensive scheme which overrides many other federal and state laws that would otherwise apply. In conformity with this principle, bankruptcy policy should

^{275.} See id. (noting that there are some situations when equitable remedies should not be treated as claims and should not be reduced to a monetary value).

^{276.} F.C.C. v. NextWave Personal Commc'ns Inc., 537 U.S. 293, 304 (2003) (quoting J.E.M. Ag Supply, Inc. v. Pioneer Hi-Bred Int'l, Inc., 534 U.S. 124, 143-144 (2001)).

^{277.} United States v. LTV Corp. (*In re* Chateaugay Corp.), 944 F.2d 997, 1002 (2d Cir. 1991) ("We agree that the Bankruptcy Code and CERCLA point toward competing objectives.").

^{278.} *Id*.

^{279.} Id.

^{280.} See, e.g., MBNA Am. Bank, N.A. v. Hill, 436 F.3d 104, 108 (2d Cir. 2006) (explaining that in the event of a conflict, a court can properly conclude that "Congress intended to override the Arbitration Act's general policy favoring the enforcement of arbitration agreements."); U.S. Lines, Inc. v. Am. S.S. Owners Mut. Prot. & Indem. Ass'n, Inc., (In re U.S. Lines, Inc.), 197 F.3d 631, 640 (2d Cir. 1999) (affirming bankruptcy court decision to stay arbitration under the Arbitration Act in order to promote Bankruptcy Code's centralization policy); id. (analyzing bankruptcy as opposed to environmental law policies in the event of a conflict).

prevail over conflicting policies when interpreting § 101(5)(B). Because bankruptcy policies are of primary importance in interpreting § 101(5)(B), it is necessary to determine what bankruptcy policies are relevant to the statute's interpretation and how the alternative approaches conform to the relevant policies.

1. Relevant Bankruptcy Policies

The expansive definition of "claim" suggested by the legislative history and Supreme Court precedent is intended to include "even the most 'uncertain and difficult to estimate' claims."281 This definition serves several important purposes, especially in the context of Chapter 11 reorganizations. 282 First, an expansive definition of dischargeable "claim" serves to discharge as many rights to equitable remedies as possible so that a company or individual can effectively reorganize their financial affairs.²⁸³ Introducing uncertainty as to whether equitable remedies capable of being reduced to payment constitute claims would hinder a debtor's ability to reorganize and be successful.²⁸⁴ expansive definition also serves a closely related policy; the policy of providing the debtor with finality of the bankruptcy proceedings so that the debtor may have a "fresh start." 285 Last, the expansive definition helps to ensure equal distributions to similarly situated creditors. 286 A creditor could obtain "what amounts to priority over all other creditors" if rights to equitable remedies that could have been reduced to payment in bankruptcy were not discharged in a bankruptcy.²⁸⁷

^{281.} Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 36 (1st Cir. 2009).

^{282.} *Id*.

^{283.} Id.

^{284.} Id.

^{285.} *Id.*; see also Va. Cmty. Coll. v. Katz, 546 U.S. 356, 363-64 (2006) (describing that a "critical feature" of bankruptcy proceeding is debtor's "fresh start" by releasing him, her, or it from further liability for old debts).

^{286.} See Katz, 546 U.S. at 364 (2006) (explaining that one of the "critical features" of a bankruptcy proceeding is equal distribution among creditors.); see also Rederford, 589 F.3d at 36.

^{287.} Rederford, 589 F.3d at 36. As discussed further *infra*, allowing the creditor's claim to survive the bankruptcy as a non-claim means the creditor would be able to have the equitable obligation performed in full, rather than settling for a pro-rata distribution on a claim like other creditors in the bankruptcy.

2. Promote Reorganization when Possible

The Bankruptcy Code attempts to promote the Congressional goal of encouraging reorganization when possible. Congress hoped that promoting reorganization would allow reorganized companies to continue to provide jobs, pay creditors in the future, and become profitable and benefit future equity holders. The goal of promoting reorganization is accomplished by liquidating claims in bankruptcy so that the debtor will know where it stands and may determine if an effective reorganization is possible. 290

The Apex Approach's narrow interpretation of § 101(5)(B) results in post-bankruptcy survival of rights to equitable remedies that could threaten a debtor's ability to reorganize. By failing to look for alternative "rights to payment" in statutes other than the statute giving rise to the "right to an equitable remedy," this approach allows equitable rights that could be reduced to payment to survive the bankruptcy.²⁹¹ Even the smallest obligation arising from an equitable remedy requiring the post-bankruptcy expenditure of money by a reorganized debtor could prevent the debtor from being able to propose a feasible plan and reorganize effectively. However, the cost of compliance with equitable remedies that may survive bankruptcy under the Apex Approach can be staggering. In the Apex case, the EPA estimated that the cost of the environmental cleanup obligation to be \$150 million.²⁹² Astronomical cleanup costs like the one in dispute in Apex are not unusual.²⁹³ Certainly obligations arising from equitable remedies which will cost debtors millions of dollars riding through a bankruptcy could substantially hamper a debtor's ability to reorganize.²⁹⁴

Arguably the Whizco Approach best promotes the policy of encouraging reorganizations because it is the broadest of the three

^{288.} Braunstein v. McCabe, 571 F.3d 108, 116 (1st Cir. 2009) (discussing the "congressional goal of encouraging reorganizations") (citing United States v. Whiting Pools, Inc., 462 U.S. 198, 205, 207-08 (1983)).

^{289.} Whiting Pools, 462 U.S. at 203.

^{290.} See Rederford, 589 F.3d at 36 (noting the negative repercussions of failure to liquidate claims in bankruptcy on debtor's ability to effectively reorganize).

^{291.} See supra Part IV.B.3.

^{292.} See United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734, 736 (7th Cir. 2009).

^{293.} See KATHERINE N. PROBST ET AL., SUPERFUND'S FUTURE: WHAT WILL IT COST? A REPORT TO CONGRESS 87 (2001) (explaining that the average cleanup cost of a National Priority List (NPL) "mega" site was estimated in 2001 at approximately \$140,000,000, and the average cleanup cost of an NPL "non-mega" site was estimated at \$12,000,000).

^{294.} See United States v. LTV Corp. (In re Chateaugay Corp.), 944 F.2d 997, 1002 (2d Cir. 1991) (discussing the possibility that a "claim" by the EPA could result in a debtor having to abandon reorganization efforts in favor of liquidation proceedings) (citing THOMAS H. JACKSON, THE LOGIC AND LIMITS OF BANKRUPTCY LAW 51 (1986)).

approaches. However, the *Whizco* Approach does so by ignoring the statutory language and allowing courts to reduce rights to equitable remedies to monetary values without any statutory or common law guidance.

The Proposed Approach promotes the effective reorganization of debtors by allowing a debtor to discharge as many equitable remedies as possible while still adhering to the language of § 101(5)(B). The Proposed Approach does not liquidate all rights to equitable remedies, which would be contrary to the plain language of § 101(5)(B). However, the Proposed Approach leaves in place only those equitable remedies which cannot be reduced to payment using some structured approach provided by statute or common law.

3. Finality and "Fresh Start"

Closely intertwined with the goal of promoting reorganizations is the goal of providing a debtor with a "fresh start."²⁹⁵ Congress' attempt to create a broad definition of "claim" also serves the purpose of providing debtors in bankruptcy with assurance that they will not be called upon to answer on pre-bankruptcy debts after they receive a discharge in bankruptcy. ²⁹⁶ A reorganized debtor may move forward pursuant to its plan of reorganization and not be worried that efforts to become a profitable business will be hampered by pre-confirmation obligations and rights to equitable remedies. ²⁹⁸ A "fresh start" also allows an individual debtor or owner of a liquidating business to go forward without worrying about past debts negating future gains. ²⁹⁹

The *Apex* Approach can hinder a debtor's ability to move forward and pursue a "fresh start" because it allows rights to equitable remedies with substantial monetary values, reducable to payment in bankruptcy, to survive the bankruptcy. Despite what the cost of the obligations arising from equitable remedies that survive the bankruptcy may be, the obligations prevent "the honest but unfortunate debtor" from obtaining "a new opportunity in life with a clear field for future effort, unhampered

^{295.} Marrama v. Citizens Bank of Massachusetts, 549 U.S. 365, 366-367 (2007) ("The principal purpose of the Bankruptcy Code is to grant a 'fresh start' to the 'honest but unfortunate debtor."") (quoting Grogan v. Garner, 498 U.S. 279, 286-87 (1991)).

^{296.} See, e.g., Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 36 (1st Cir. 2009).

^{297.} In a Chapter 7 proceeding, the relevant inquiry involves determining whether a "claim" arose pre- or post-order for relief. 11 U.S.C. § 727(b) (2006).

^{298.} Rederford, 589 F.3d at 36.

^{299.} See Marrama, 549 U.S. at 366-67 (2007) (discussing the Chapter 7 and 13 processes and how "the principal purpose of the Bankruptcy Code is to grant a 'fresh start' to the 'honest but unfortunate debtor.") (quoting Grogan, 498 U.S. at 286-87).

^{300.} See supra Part IV.B.3.

by the pressure and discouragement of preexisting debt."³⁰¹ Instead, a plaintiff can wait and assert costly equitable remedies after the debtor emerges from bankruptcy.³⁰²

On the other hand, the Proposed Approach attempts to minimize both the equitable remedies that can survive bankruptcy and the burden of pre-confirmation obligations the debtor must deal with after bankruptcy. Here again, the Proposed Approach attempts to remedy the overbroad *Whizco* rule. The Proposed Approach allows some rights to equitable remedies to ride through the bankruptcy, but leaves only those rights that cannot be liquidated in a structured manner. By minimizing the number of equitable remedies that ride through, the Proposed Approach attempts to balance the financial burden on the debtor, while allowing the holder of an equitable remedy to enjoy the nonfinancial benefit of her or his bargain.

4. Equal Treatment Among Similarly Situated Creditors

Another major purpose of the expansive definition of "claim" in § 101(5)(B) is to ensure equal treatment of similarly situated creditors. ³⁰³ This is done by ensuring that all creditors are paid through the bankruptcy, rather than having some receive partial payments on their debts while allowing others to receive full payment on their debts outside bankruptcy. ³⁰⁴ The *Apex* Approach allows some creditors to achieve a priority over others. The Proposed Approach avoids this result by disallowing creditors from seeking favorable treatment by picking and choosing between alternative statutory structures providing differing remedies for the same wrongful actions.

For example, in the environmental context, assume the debtor previously owned land and was responsible for hazardous wastes seeping into the ground water at those locations. The EPA may obtain an injunction under RCRA where "the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation or disposal of any solid waste or hazardous waste may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment." Additionally, under CERCLA, and possibly

^{301.} *Grogan*, 498 U.S. at 286 (1991) (quoting Local Loan Co. v. Hunt, 292 U.S. 234, 244 (1934)).

^{302.} See, e.g., United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734 (7th Cir. 2009) (equitable remedy asserted many years after Apex had emerged from bankruptcy).

^{303.} Rederford, 589 F.3d at 36; see also Cent. Va. Cmty. Coll. v. Katz, 546 U.S. 356, 364 (2006) (explaining that one of the "critical features" of a bankruptcy proceeding is equal distribution among creditors).

^{304.} Rederford, 589 F.3d at 36 (allowing equitable remedies that could be reduced to payment in bankruptcy to survive post-bankruptcy gives holders of those remedies what amounts to priority over all other creditors).

^{305. 42} U.S.C. § 6973(a) (2006).

other statutes, the EPA has the right to an injunction, 306 or the option to clean up the pollution and seek reimbursement, in the event "there may be an imminent and substantial endangerment to the public health or welfare or the environment because of an actual or threatened release of a hazardous substance." Because the requirements for liability under RCRA and CERCLA overlap greatly, the EPA is in a unique position. Where the EPA has the right to an injunction under both statutes, the EPA would also have the right to clean up the pollution and obtain reimbursement of the cleanup costs from the debtor, a "right to payment."

Under the *Apex* Approach, this example provides a clear picture of the advantage the EPA may obtain over other creditors. An obligation arising under CERCLA, whether seeking an injunction or reimbursement, can constitute a "claim" against the debtor and may be discharged in bankruptcy.³¹¹ However, under the *Apex* Approach, an obligation arising from violation of RCRA is not a "claim," and not discharged by bankruptcy.³¹² Thus, in the event the EPA expects the debtor to liquidate under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, it will proceed under CERCLA. This will allow the EPA to have a "claim" in the debtor's bankruptcy and allow the EPA to share *pro rata* with other unsecured creditors in the pot of money created by liquidation of the debtor's assets.³¹³

On the other hand, if the EPA expects the debtor to reorganize, it will proceed under RCRA. Because the RCRA equitable remedy is not a "claim," it will not be discharged and will survive the bankruptcy

^{306.} Id. § 9606(a).

^{307.} Id. § 9607(a).

^{308.} Id. § 9606(a).

^{309.} Id. §§ 6973(a), 9606(a).

^{310.} See 42 U.S.C. § 9607.

^{311.} See, e.g., In re CMC Heartland Partners (CMC Heartland I). 966 F.2d 1143, 1146 (7th Cir. 1992) (explaining that to the extent [CERCLA] §§ 106 and 107 [42 U.S.C. §§ 9606-07] require a person to pay money today because of acts before or during the reorganization proceedings, CERCLA creates a "claim" in bankruptcy); United States v. LTV Corp. (In re Chateaugay Corp.), 944 F.2d 997, 1005 (2d Cir. 1991). As discussed previously, when the "right to payment," and thus, the "claim" arises causes controversy. Some courts say that all four elements of the CERCLA claim must be present, while others suggest that a missing element just constitutes a contingency. This, however, only effects the timing issue when the "claim" arises, and not whether a certain type of obligation falls within the § 101(5)(B) definition of "claim." For a discussion on the timing issue, see Signature Combs, Inc. v. United States, 253 F.Supp.2d 1028, 1033 (W.D. Tenn. 2003).

^{312.} See United States v. Apex Oil Co., 579 F.3d 734, 737-38 (7th Cir. 2009) (holding that a RCRA obligation is not a debt or claim and therefore not discharged).

^{313.} See 11 U.S.C. § 726(a)(2) (2006) (providing for distribution to unsecured creditors in liquidation).

unaffected, requiring the debtor to pay the full amount of compliance with the equitable remedy. Further, the EPA claims, and at least one court has agreed, that it may maintain a cause of action under RCRA and CERCLA at the same time. If this is true, the EPA would be able to bring actions under RCRA and CERCLA, and then wait and see which action to pursue after a debtor has determined if it will be able to reorganize. Maintaining both actions and then choosing based on the best recovery for the EPA results in the EPA nearly always benefiting to the detriment of other creditors.

Under the Proposed Approach, the EPA will not have the ability to create an advantage for itself by deciding when to have a "claim" and when not to. Instead, the debtor would have the ability to have the RCRA injunction discharged if the same wrongful actions by the debtor also gave rise to a cause of action under CERCLA. The Proposed Approach looks at the wrongful actions of the debtor that gave rise to the injunctive relief under RCRA. If the debtor's wrongful actions also gave rise to a "right to payment" under CERCLA intended to compensate for the same wrong, the equitable remedy provided by RCRA would constitute a "claim" under § 101(5)(B). The EPA would have to settle for a set treatment for the "right to an equitable remedy" that it holds *pro rata* payment with unsecured creditors. In the event that the debtor's actions giving rise to the RCRA injunctive relief do not also give rise to a cause of action giving the EPA a "right to payment," then, as the *Rederford* court recognized, "the bankruptcy court will not be able to liquidate it and so cannot readily prioritize it relative to other claims." ³¹⁸

^{314.} See United States v. Reilly Tar & Chem. Corp., 546 F.Supp 1100, 1111 (D. Minn 1982); STROCHAK, supra note 27, at 101.

^{315.} In the event of a Chapter 7, the EPA would be able to take part in the pro rata distribution, reducing the amount available for other creditors. At the same time the EPA can maintain the ability to avoid "claim" status should the debtor later determine that a reorganization is possible. In the event of a Chapter 11, the EPA would be able to file a proof of claim for potential CERCLA remedies, while maintaining the ability to dismiss the CERCLA claim and pursue the RCRA claim. Dismissing the CERCLA claim would allow the EPA to obtain non-claim status on its RCRA claim, payable in post-bankruptcy dollars, reducing the amount that the debtor will be able to disburse to its creditors if it is to be able to reorganize successfully.

^{316.} Tekinsight.Com v. Stylesite Mktg., Inc. (*In re* Stylesite Mktg., Inc.), 253 B.R. 503, 511 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2000) (reasoning that an alternative right to payment made equitable remedy a claim even though plaintiff might recover different amount under the alternative remedies because they each fully satisfied the plaintiff's claim).

^{317.} This ignores the possibility of any fines imposed for post-petition, which could be classified as administrative expenses. *See* 42 U.S.C. § 6973(b) (2006).

^{318.} Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 36 (1st Cir. 2009); see infra Part V.F. The practical implications of attempting to estimate the value of a "right to an equitable remedy" where no "right to payment" exists are discussed further.

E. Environmental Policy

As discussed above, bankruptcy policy provides the proper inquiry in the event of a conflict between bankruptcy policy and policy goals promoted by other areas of law. However, it is worth noting that the Proposed Approach, to some extent, furthers both bankruptcy policy *and* environmental law policy goals in its treatment of environmental obligations under RCRA and CERCLA. Both CERCLA and RCRA are concerned, at least in part, with ensuring timely cleanup of environmental pollutants so that risk to human health and the environmental can be reduced.³¹⁹

The goal of timely cleanup is promoted by providing a consistent treatment for the EPA for environmental obligations under RCRA and CERCLA. If the EPA can obtain preferable treatment in a polluter's bankruptcy case by choosing whether to pursue cleanup obligations under CERCLA or RCRA, the EPA will have every incentive to postpone the cleanup obligations until the polluter decides whether it will reorganize or liquidate in its bankruptcy. Not only does this run contrary to the goal of timely cleanup, but it may result in further contamination that could have been prevented by prompt cleanup. In some instances, the further contamination could even lead to further risks to human health and the environment.

As noted by Ahern and Marsh in their treatise on environmental obligations in bankruptcy, approaches like the *Apex* Approach encourage the EPA to postpone cleanup efforts.³²¹ Because initiating a cleanup effort may convert the obligation to a claim, the EPA is encouraged to order a potentially responsible party to clean up and then wait.³²² This may avoid classification of the obligation as a "claim," which may prevent the "fresh start" and effective reorganization that the Bankruptcy

^{319.} See Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. United States, 129 S.Ct. 1870, 1874 (2009) (CERCLA is intended "to promote the "timely cleanup of hazardous waste sites.") (citing Meghrig v. KFC Western, 516 U.S. 479, 483 (1996)); Meghrig, 516 U.S. at 483 (RCRA is intended to "minimize present and future threat to human health and environment.").

^{320.} As discussed *supra* Part V.D.4., EPA will want to wait and see if a reorganization will be a viable option. If reorganization is possible, EPA will pursue clean-up under RCRA and have a non-dischargeable non-claim. If it becomes clear that liquidation is inevitable, EPA will pursue clean-up under CERCLA so that it will have a "claim" and at least receive a pro rata dividend with other creditors.

^{321.} AHERN & MARSH, *supra* note 15, at § 3:15; *see also In re* Goodwin, 163 B.R. 825, 831 (Bankr. D. Id. 1993) (explaining that the decision of whether to seek an injunction or reimbursement should be motivated by the desire to promote the public welfare, not by the desire to make sure the debtor bears the financial burden).

^{322.} AHERN & MARSH, supra note 15, at § 3:15.

Code is intended to promote.³²³ Further, this delay approach is directly contrary to the primary goal CERCLA seeks to achieve—"timely cleanup of hazardous waste sites."³²⁴

While the Proposed Approach does not fully promote the environmental goal of holding liable those responsible for pollution,³²⁵ it does not necessarily completely defeat this goal either. Since owners of the property are jointly and severally liable with operators, disposers, treaters, and transporters of the contaminants,³²⁶ discharge of liability by one PRP will not necessarily leave the EPA without options to recover.

F Other Practical Considerations

The Proposed Approach also makes sense in light of the bankruptcy court's duty to estimate claims for allowances. Section 502(c)(2) requires the bankruptcy court to estimate "any right to payment arising from a right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance." However, § 502(c)(2) does not provide a procedure for estimating rights to equitable remedies. The Proposed Approach provides the missing procedure by allowing the court to use a legislatively approved procedure, or the procedure provided by some other cause of action intended to remedy the same wrongful actions or inactions of the debtor. Instead of legislating its own procedure as the *Whizco* Approach would require courts to do in many situations, the bankruptcy court borrows the procedure provided by Congress in the cause of action providing the "right to payment."

Two courts have recognized this logical solution. The bankruptcy court in *In re CRS Steam, Inc.* found that "[w]hen [a cause of action providing for a right to payment] is present, the court can compute the 'payment' due and thereby assign a dollar amount to the remedy, treating it like any other claim." The *Rederford* court also acknowledged this logical solution when it recognized that "[i]f no monetary alternative exists for an equitable remedy, the bankruptcy court will not be able to liquidate it and so cannot readily prioritize it relative to other claims." 328

^{323.} For more on relevant bankruptcy policies, see supra Part V.D.

^{324.} See Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. United States, 129 S.Ct. 1870, 1874 (2009) (CERCLA intended "to promote the "timely cleanup of hazardous waste sites."") (citing Meghrig v. KFC Western, 516 U.S. 479, 483 (1996)).

^{325.} *Id.*

^{326. 42} U.S.C. § 9607(a) (2006).

^{327.} See CRS Steam, Inc. v. Eng'g Res., Inc. (In re CRS Steam, Inc.), 225 B.R. 833, 841 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1998); see also Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 36-37 (1st Cir. 2009) (focusing on the ability of the court to reduce an equitable remedy to a payment amount).

^{328.} Rederford, 589 F.3d at 36.

In accordance with the bankruptcy court's duty to estimate claims under § 502(c), the term "claim" under § 101(5)(B) should be read to include "rights to equitable remedies" whenever there is an alternative cause of action providing a "right to payment" for the same "breach of performance." Application of the Proposed Approach reaches this result.

The Apex Approach, on the other hand, refuses to estimate the value of "equitable remedies" which could easily be determined using another defined cause of action. Likewise, the Whizco Approach fails in this regard because it does not even require that the bankruptcy court use a legislatively provided procedure. Instead, bankruptcy courts applying the Whizco Approach would have to essentially legislate their own methods of calculating the value of equitable remedies where there is no congressional procedure provided.

As seen throughout the discussion of the meaning of § 101(5)(B), both the *Apex* Approach and the Proposed Approach provide viable interpretations of § 101(5)(B). In determining whether the *Apex* Approach or the Proposed Approach should be adopted, the legislative history, bankruptcy and environmental policy, and practical considerations favor the Proposed Approach. For this reason, the Proposed Approach should be adopted and courts should reduce rights to equitable remedies to payment whenever Congress, or state law, has provided a "right to payment" that remedies the wrongful actions or inactions of the debtor.

VI. APPLYING THE PROPOSED APPROACH IN OTHER CONTEXTS

While much of this paper has been dedicated to treatment of environmental obligations in bankruptcy, in order to be a viable approach to interpreting § 101(5)(B), the Proposed Approach must work in other contexts as well. Below is a discussion of cases involving covenants not to compete, another situation where the interpretation of § 101(5)(B) often gives rise to disputes and how the Proposed Approach applies to obtain the proper outcome. Additionally, this section briefly discusses application of § 101(5)(B) to specific performance and constructive trust remedies.

A. Covenants Not to Compete

Considerable litigation arises requiring courts to determine whether injunctive obligations for breach of performance of a covenant not to compete constitute "claims." ³³⁰ Generally, courts look to state law when determining if the "breach" giving rise to a "right to an equitable remedy" (usually an injunction) also gives rise to a "right to payment." 331 This interpretation of state law is where most of the dispute exists. Historically, injunctive relief was only available if there was an inadequate remedy at law, i.e. money damages could not compensate the Some courts take the view that, if an injunction was awarded, the money damages must not have been an adequate remedy at law. 333 In that event, no "right to payment" is available to convert the equitable remedy of an injunction to a § 101(5)(B) "claim."³³⁴ Other courts determine that the claimant in a breach of covenant not to compete case can choose to plead money damages, even if he or she would have been entitled to an injunction if it were sought.³³⁵ Several bankruptcy courts have also found that injunctions for breach of a covenant not to compete are not "claims" because compliance with the injunction does not require the expenditure of money, 336 but each of these cases suffers from the same fault as the Whizco Approach; the interpretation does not comply with the language of § 101(5)(B). Additionally, the cases do not fall within the narrow expansion of the definition of "claim" provided by the Kovacs decision.

The result of these cases does not change under the Proposed Approach. The outcome, as it should, will still depend on the proper interpretation of state law.³³⁷ Under the Proposed Approach, the court

^{330.} See, e.g., Kennedy v. Medicap Pharmacies, Inc., 267 F.3d 493, 495-98 (6th Cir. 2001); In re Reppond, 238 B.R. 442, 443 (Bankr. E.D. Ark. 1999); R.J. Carbone Co. v. Nyren (In re Nyren), 187 B.R. 424, 425 (Bankr. D. Conn. 1995); In re Printronics, Inc., 189 B.R. 995, 1001 (Bankr. N.D. Fla. 1995); In re Hughes. 166 B.R. 103, 106 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio 1994); May v. Charles Booher & Assocs. (In re May), 141 B.R. 940, 944 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio 1992); Oseen v. Walker (In re Oseen), 133 B.R. 527 (Bankr. D. Idaho 1991); In re Peltz, 55 B.R. 336, 338 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 1985); Carstens Health Indus. v. Cooper (In re Cooper), 47 B.R. 842, 845 (Bankr. W.D. Mo. 1985); In re Cox, 53 B.R. 829, 832 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 1985).

^{331.} See In re Udell, 18 F.3d 403, 408 (7th Cir. 1994).

^{332.} Potwora v. Dillon, 386 F.2d 74, 77 (2d Cir. 1966).

^{333.} See, e.g., In re Reppond, 238 B.R. at 443; In re Printronics, Inc., 189 B.R. at 1001; In re Oseen, 133 B.R. at 527; In re Cox, 53 B.R. at 832.

^{334.} See In re Reppond, 238 B.R. at 443; In re Printronics, Inc., 189 B.R. at 1001; In re Oseen, 133 B.R. at 527; In re Cox, 53 B.R. at 832.

^{335.} Maids Int'l, Inc. v. Ward (*In re* Ward), 194 B.R. 703, 713-14 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1996); *In re* Kilpatrick, 160 B.R. 560, 564 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 1993).

^{336.} R.J. Carbone Co. v. Nyren (In re Nyren), 187 B.R. 424, 425 (Bankr. D. Conn. 1995); In re Hughes, 166 B.R. 103, 106 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio 1994); May v. Charles Booher & Assoc. (In re May), 141 B.R. 940, 944 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio 1992); In re Peltz, 55 B.R. 336, 338 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 1985); Carstens Health Indus. v. Cooper (In re Cooper), 47 B.R. 842, 845 (Bankr. W.D. Mo. 1985).

^{337.} See, e.g., In re Udell, 18 F.3d 403, 408 (7th Cir. 1994); Creator's Way Associated Labels, Inc. v. Mitchell (In re Mitchell), 249 B.R. 55, 59 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.

first looks to find out the actions or inactions of the debtor that constitute the "breach of performance." In the covenant not to compete cases, this "breach of performance" will be the debtor's act of competing against its prior employer, or the debtor's act of threatening to compete against the prior employer. The court would next focus on the remedies that are available to the employer. In almost all cases an injunctive remedy will be available. Availability of an injunctive remedy means the employer has a "right to an equitable remedy." In some states, where the claimant-employer may choose damages instead, the breach also gives rise to a "right to payment," whether or not the employer pursues the damages remedy. In these states, the presence of a "right to an equitable remedy," and a "right to payment" arising from the same "breach of performance" would convert the "right to an equitable" remedy into a claim.

On the other hand, if state law does not give the employer an alternative "right to payment" in the event of a breach of performance, but *only* allows an injunction for breach, the right to the equitable remedy of injunction would not be a claim. In these states, however, a debtor or claimant may look to other theories of law as well. If, for instance, the same actions or inactions by the debtor, competing against one's employer in violation of a covenant not to compete, also gives rise to a tort claim, then this could constitute the alternative "right to payment" necessary to convert the "right to an equitable remedy" into a claim. To determine if the tort claim converts the right to the equitable remedy into a claim, the court will simply be required to determine if the

^{2000);} Tekinsight.Com v. Stylesite Mktg., Inc. (In re Stylesite Mktg., Inc.), 253 B.R. 503, 511 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2000).

^{338.} See 2 LOUIS ALTMAN & MARIA POLLACK, CALLMANN ON UNFAIR COMPETITION, TRADE & MONOPOLIES § 16:22 (4th Ed.) (Westlaw 2010).

^{339.} See, e.g., Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274, 279-80 (1985) ("[T]here is little doubt that the State had the right to an equitable remedy under state law and that the right has been reduced to judgment in the form of an injunction ordering the cleanup."); In re Nickels Midway Pier, LLC, 255 Fed. Appx. 633 (3d Cir. 2007) (stating that specific performance is an "equitable remedy" for purposes of § 101(5)(B)).

^{340.} See, e.g., In re Ward, 194 B.R. at 711-12; In re Kilpatrick, 160 B.R. at 565.

^{341.} *In re* Kilpatrick, 160 B.R. at 567 ("[A]vailability of an alternative right to payment is determinative, not whether the nondebtor has demonstrated (or expressed) any inclination to enforce that right.").

^{342.} See, e.g., Kennedy v. Medicap Pharmacies, Inc., 267 F.3d 493, 495 (6th Cir. 2001) ("The Kennedys concede that they breached the covenant not to compete by working in a pharmacy known as Kennedy Pharmacy at the same location as the Medicap Pharmacy.").

tort claim is intended to fully remedy the plaintiff for the wrongful actions or inactions of the debtor.³⁴³

Although different treatment in different states may seem unfair, courts generally agree that the existence of a "right to payment" is a matter of state law. Section 101(5)(B) is not the only situation in which Congress has determined that state law policies should trump uniformity in the bankruptcy process. For instance, individual debtors may also have different exemptions depending on their state of residence. Additionally, the differing results are consistent with the legislative history's suggestion that the same "right to an equitable" remedy may be a "claim" in one state and a non-claim in another state.

B. Specific Performance

The legislative history provides an example of the types of situations that § 101(5)(B) was intended to deal with.³⁴⁷ This example deals with rights to specific performance.³⁴⁸ The legislative history suggests that if state law provides the equitable remedy of specific performance, with an alternative right to payment "in the event performance is refused," then the right to specific performance would constitute a "claim."³⁴⁹

This outcome is consistent with the Proposed Approach which would ask the two ever-important questions: 1) is there a "right to an equitable remedy?" and if so, 2) is there an alternative "right to payment" that can rectify the same wrongful conduct of the debtor? In the event that both types of "rights" exist, the "right to an equitable remedy" of specific performance is a claim under § 101(5)(B). Again, although a distinction based solely on a difference in state law may seem unfair, this

^{343.} See Tekinsight.Com v. Stylesite Mktg., Inc. (In re Stylesite Mktg., Inc.), 253 B.R. 503, 511 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2000); see also Rederford v. U.S. Airways, Inc., 589 F.3d 30, 36 (1st Cir. 2009).

^{344.} Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co. of Am. v. Pac. Gas & Elec. Co., 549 U.S. 443, 451 (2007).

^{345.} See 11 U.S.C. § 522(b) (2006).

^{346.} See 124 CONG. REC. S33,992 (daily ed. Oct. 5, 1978) (statement of Sen. DeConcini); 124 CONG. REC. H32,393 (daily ed. Sep. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

^{347.} See 124 CONG. REC. S33,992 (daily ed. Oct. 5, 1978) (statement of Sen. DeConcini); 124 CONG. REC. H32,393 (daily ed. Sep. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

^{348.} See 124 CONG. REC. S33,992 (daily ed. Oct. 5, 1978) (statement of Sen. DeConcini); 124 CONG. REC. H32,393 (daily ed. Sep. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

^{349.} See 124 CONG. REC. S33,992 (daily ed. Oct. 5, 1978) (statement of Sen. DeConcini); 124 CONG. REC. H32,393 (daily ed. Sep. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

outcome is exactly what is dictated by the text of § 101(5)(B) and its legislative history.³⁵⁰ Additionally, as discussed immediately above, there are several other instances in which the Bankruptcy Code treats debtors differently depending on the law of the state in which they reside.³⁵¹ In the 2005 amendments to the Bankruptcy Code, a provision was even enacted to prevent debtors from taking advantage of some of these exact types of distinctions.³⁵² In some instances, Congress has decided that policy considerations require slightly differing treatments among debtors in different states.

C. Constructive Trusts

One final context in which application of § 101(5)(B) gives rise to problems involves constructive trusts. However, as the court in *In re CRS Steam*³⁵³ noted, courts rarely look to the definition of "claim" when determining treatment of the constructive trusts in bankruptcy.³⁵⁴ Instead, the courts focus on "the nature of the claimant's rights in the property prior to its transfer to him" and whether the subject property is property of the estate at all.³⁵⁵ However, as the court in *CRS Steam* recognized, whether or not the property is property of the estate, a claimant's right to the equitable remedy of constructive trust may nonetheless give rise to a "claim" under § 101(5)(B).³⁵⁶

Consistent with the result in *CRS Steam*, and the more recent case of *In re Stylesite Marketing, Inc.*, ³⁵⁷ the Proposed Approach treats rights to

^{350.} See 124 CONG. REC. S33,992 (daily ed. Oct. 5, 1978) (statement of Sen. DeConcini); 124 CONG. REC. H32,393 (daily ed. Sep. 28, 1978) (statement of Rep. Edwards).

^{351.} See, e.g., 11 U.S.C. § 522(b)(1) (2006) (allowing debtor to exempt property from creditors under either the federal exemptions in § 522(d) or under state law, which will differ depending on the state of the debtor's residence).

^{352.} See id. § 522(3)(A) (determining where the debtor resides for purposes of determining exemptions based on duration of residence in the period leading up to the filing of the bankruptcy petition, rather than the location of the debtor's residence on the petition date).

^{353.} CRS Steam, Inc. v. Eng'g Res., Inc. (*In re* CRS Steam, Inc.), 225 B.R. 833 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1998).

^{354.} *Id.* at 838-39, 842 (citing several cases taking this approach); *see also In re* Lucas, 300 B.R. 526 (B.A.P. 10th Cir. 2003) (example of case that ignores the § 101(5)(B) issue).

^{355.} *In re* CRS Steam, Inc., 225 B.R. at 837. This opinion provides an excellent discussion of the disputes involving treatment of constructive trusts in bankruptcy. For further reading on the treatment of constructive trusts in bankruptcy, *see* Emily L. Sherwin, *Constructive Trusts in Bankruptcy*, 1989 U. ILL. L. REV. 297 (1989).

^{356.} In re CRS Steam, Inc., 225 B.R. at 842.

^{357. 253} B.R. 503 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2000).

constructive trusts as "claims" under § 101(5)(B) in many situations.³⁵⁸ A constructive trust is an equitable remedy.³⁵⁹ Under the two-step Proposed Approach, the court must determine what "breach" gives rise to the equitable remedy of a constructive trust. The Proposed Approach, like the court in *CRS Steam*, would view that the debtors' wrongful actions, which gave rise to the right to the constructive trust, as the "breach of performance" for purposes of § 101(5)(B).³⁶⁰ In *CRS Steam*, the debtor's "breach" was the act of misappropriating trade secrets, which resulted in violation of the Illinois Trade Secrets Act (ITSA).³⁶¹

Step two of the Proposed Approach looks for any other cause of action which would provide a full remedy for the same wrongful conduct of the debtor. The *CRS Steam* court determined that such a remedy existed.³⁶² Instead of seeking the constructive trust remedy, the claimant could have sought money damages of \$372,000.³⁶³ Under the Proposed Approach, as in the *CRS Steam* case, this money damage remedy converts the right to a constructive trust to a "claim" under § 101(5)(B).

VII. CONCLUSION

The interpretation of § 101(5)(B) has given rise to much confusion over the years. However, the confusion can be overcome. When analyzing the text of § 101(5)(B) to determine if a certain type of obligation is a claim, courts should determine what actions or inactions by the debtor constituted the "breach of performance" under the statute, contract, or other obligation. Then the court can determine the remedies available for the debtor's conduct, whether they are of a statutory or common law theory of origin. If a "right to payment" exists which enables the court to put a value on an available "right to an equitable remedy," the right to the equitable remedy is a § 101(5)(B) "claim." Courts should also remember that the question of if a certain type of

^{358.} *Id.* at 511; *see also In re* CRS Steam, Inc., 225 B.R. at 842; accord XL/Datacomp, Inc. v. Wilson (*In re* Omegas Group, Inc.), 16 F.3d 1443 (6th Cir. 1994) (designating constructive trust right as a "claim" without analysis); 5 Austin Wakeman Scott & William Franklin Fratcher, The Law Of Trusts and Trustees § 481.2 (4th ed. 1989).

^{359.} In re CRS Steam, Inc., 225 B.R. at 840 (stating that a "constructive trust is equitable remedy for unjust enrichment").

^{360.} *Id.* (explaining that the breach was debtor's "misappropriation" of a "trade secret" by "improper means" consisting of "breach of a confidential relationship or other duty to maintain secrecy. ").

^{361.} *Id*.

^{362.} *Id.* at 837, 840 (The court recognized that in this case, debtor could have sought money damages of \$372,000, and also recognized that, generally, in constructive trust cases, "[a claimant] may elect between obtaining the property itself or a money judgment for its value.").

^{363.} Id. at 840.

obligation constitutes a "claim" *must* be separated from the question of *when* a "claim" arises.